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Monday, August 23, 2010


--- Upon commencing at 9:32 a.m.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  Please be seated.  Good morning, everyone.


The Board has convened this morning in the matter of a motion brought by Summitt Energy Management Inc.  This motion has been brought in connection with the issuance of a notice of intention to make an order for compliance issued by the Board on June 17th, 2010 and bearing Board File No. EB-2010-0221.


The Board has received various written materials from the parties and will hear oral submissions today on the Summitt motion, which is generally directed to issues related to disclosure, prehearing procedures and the scheduling of the hearing.


In addition to the motion, there are a couple of related matters that will be dealt with today.  Specifically the Board has received a request for intervenor status from the University of Western Ontario Community Legal Services organization.  Parties have addressed that application in written materials filed with the Board, and we will hear oral submissions on that subject today, as well.


In addition, it would appear that the parties are seeking some direction from the Board with respect to the availability of transcripts related to certain audio recordings which have been produced by Summitt, but for which no transcripts have been prepared.  Compliance staff has requested the transcripts be prepared of the audio materials, and the Board will hear submissions on that issue today.


Finally, there is an outstanding matter related to the confidentiality of certain materials which were filed in affidavit form by Summitt late last week.  The subject affidavits detail attempts that the affiants made to contact complainants in this case, and according to compliance staff that material contained personal information of complainants and should be treated as confidential material.  The Board will hear submissions on the treatment of that material today, as well.


As a preliminary matter, the Board would welcome submissions from the parties as to what order they would like to manage these subject matters, and, after that, we will take appearances.


MR. SELZNICK:  Excuse me.  My name is Selznick and I appear for Summitt Energy Management Inc., and I would ask permission to speak while seated rather than standing.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That's fine.  Has everyone been briefed on how these microphones work?  The little green button.  It has nothing to do with your audibility to us, Mr. Selznick.  It has to do with the electronic capture of your words.


MR. SELZNICK:  I appreciate that.


There is one matter that was addressed in the procedural order 3 that I don't think you mentioned.  That is our request for the RRR information from the Board that is outstanding.  We have submissions on that, as well.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Indeed.  Thank you very much.


Are there -- it has occurred to the Board that it may be appropriate to hear the application from the Community Legal Services group first so that that might be dealt with, and depending on the outcome of that, that organization may or may not want to make submissions with respect to the rest of the motion.


Is there a representative from the Community Legal Services here?


MR. HIRANI:  Yes.  Mr. Chair, my name is Faiz Hirani from Community Legal Services.  I have no position on that.  I am planning on staying whether or not the motion is -- the motion for intervenor status is granted, and I will not have any intervention on the motion that Summitt Energy has filed.


So it is up to you and the rest of the people here, but I don't mind the order.  If I go last, that's fine with me.  If I go first, that's fine with me.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  When you say go last, you mean have the question of your status handled last?


MR. HIRANI:  Yes, because I will not be intervening on the motion, so it will be of no consequence.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Is that satisfactory with everyone?


MR. SELZNICK:  I am content to hear the matters in any order the Board wishes to deal with them.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Why don't parties simply include at the conclusion of their remarks on the motion, and any other matters, their point of view with respect to the application for intervenor status, and then we will get -- sir, could you repeat your name for me, please?


MR. HIRANI:  Faiz Hirani, H-I-R-A-N-I.  First name is F-A-I-Z.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you very much.  So, Mr. Hirani, we will give you an opportunity to speak at the conclusion of that, then.


MR. HIRANI:  That's fine, Mr. Chair.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Is that suitable to everyone?


Could I have appearances, please?


Mr. Selznick, we have you.

Appearances:


MR. SELZNICK:  Sitting next to me is Gaetana -- sorry, is Gaetana Girardi of Summitt Energy, who holds the position of -- her correct position, if I can read my notes, is director of compliance and regulatory affairs for Summitt Energy Management.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.


MR. SELZNICK:  I will turn the matter over to Mr. Tunley to introduce his side.


MR. TUNLEY:  Thank you.  My name is Phil Tunley.  I am with Stockwoods, LLP.  We have been retained as independent compliance counsel by the Board for this hearing.  We will be counsel at the hearing.


With me is Andrea Gonsalves from Stockwoods, as well, and part of the team, Maureen Helt has been sort of seconded to our team and separated off from her colleagues on Board Staff to be Compliance Counsel with us.  She is here.  Next to her is Christine Marion.  Christine was the lead investigator in the matter.  She is with Compliance Staff and will be assisting us throughout the hearing in one capacity or another.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  My name is Ljuba Djurdjevic.  I am counsel for the Board, and with me are Gona Jaff and Adrian Pye, representing Board Staff.  


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Are there any preliminary matters?  There appearing to be none, Mr. Selznick, this is your motion and you have the floor.

Submissions by Mr. Selznick:


MR. SELZNICK:  Thank you.


I just want to make sure that we're all reading from the same book here.  So what you should have before you is the notice of motion in this matter that is dated August 4th.  The Summitt Energy, the applicant in this motion's materials comprise a memorandum of fact and law dated August 23rd, 2010, the affidavit of Daniel Lester sworn August 4th, 2010, a supplementary affidavit of Daniel Lester sworn August 17th, 2010 and two affidavits to which the Panel alluded where the issue of confidentiality of some information in them is alluded to.  One is of Joanna Lindenburg and the other is of Jennifer Soerg, both dated August 20th, 2010, and then there is a book of brief of authorities from our firm dated August 17th, 2010.


From the materials we've looked at from Mr. Tunley's office, we have Mr. Tunley's written submissions of August 11th, 2010, his compendium of documents dated August 11th, 2010 and his book of authorities dated August 18th, 2010.  If any of those are missing, I am sure we could find the copies.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  We have them and we have read them.


MR. SELZNICK:  Thank you.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Mr. Chair, should we make those each a separate exhibit?  


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I guess it would be convenient to do so, although, strictly speaking, they aren't exhibits in the case, but why don't we attribute separate exhibit numbers to each of the documents that Mr. Selznick has filed on behalf of his client; that is, the notice of motion, the book of authorities, the affidavit of Mr. Lester, which I guess actually forms part of the motion itself, does it not?


MR. SELZNICK:  The principal affidavit does.  There is a supplementary affidavit of his that addresses matters in the factum.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Let's give the supplementary affidavit a separate number.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So we are starting with the notice of motion.  That is Exhibit K.1.

EXHIBIT NO. K1:  NOTICE OF MOTION.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  And the supplementary affidavit of Mr. Lester as K.2.

EXHIBIT NO. K2:  SUPPLEMENTARY AFFIDAVIT OF MR. LESTER.  


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And there are the affidavits that were filed on August 20th.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Well, did we -- perhaps we need to have some submissions as to whether some of this should be confidential, as was suggested by Ms. Helt's e-mail on Friday, in which case they would be prefaced with the letter X, if they're going to be confidential.  Do you want -- do we want submissions on that?


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Well, let's treat them as confidential for now, and then we will hear submissions on that subject and we can transform them into public records, if we want to.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Thanks.  All right.  So I am going to give them each a separate exhibit number.  So the affidavit of Jennifer Soerg sworn August 20th we will give Exhibit X.1, X being the Board's nomenclature for confidential filings.

EXHIBIT NO. X1:  AFFIDAVIT OF JENNIFER SOERG SWORN AUGUST 20, 2010.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  And then there is another affidavit of Jennifer Soerg -- 


MR. SELZNICK:  Sorry, there were -- we filed two forms of the affidavit, one with the exhibit, one without, in case we decided one way or the other on the matter of confidentiality.  But we have agreed for purposes of this hearing, I think, that we are content with that exhibit to the affidavit being confidential.  I think the whole matter of confidentiality is one of the things you want to discuss, but for the purposes of the hearing today, I am quite content for those exhibits to be marked as confidential.  


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.  


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  All right.  So the second affidavit of Jennifer Soerg, also sworn August 20th, we will give Exhibit No. X2. 

EXHIBIT NO. X2:  Second affidavit of Jennifer Soerg.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  And was there another affidavit that was delivered on Friday?  Why don't I have --


MR. SELZNICK:  The filing contained two.  One was of Joanna Lindenberg, the same day, a student of our office.  


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  I apologize.  I am just going through what I got from the Board Secretary.  Then is the affidavit of Joanna Lindenberg, sworn August 20th, which will be Exhibit X3.

EXHIBIT NO. X3: Affidavit of Joanna Lindenberg.


MR. SELZNICK:  And similarly, there would have been two copies of that.  There would be one with the exhibit and one without the exhibit.  


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  All right.  So the second affidavit of Joanna Lindenberg, also sworn August 20th, will be Exhibit X4.

EXHIBIT NO. X4:  Second affidavit of Joanna Lindenberg. 


MR. TUNLEY:  And then I believe that the only other evidentiary volume is the compendium of documents.  It may be advisable to mark that as Exhibit K3, just for reference.  


Other than that, subject to Mr. Selznick, I think it is all just facta and books of authorities.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  So Exhibit K3 is the Summitt Energy's compendium of documents?


MR. TUNLEY:  No.  It would be compliance counsel's compendium of documents, dated August 11th.  


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Oh.  All right.  

EXHIBIT NO. K3:  Compliance council's compendium of documents.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  All right.  Anything else anybody wanted to identify on the record as an exhibit?  Okay.  


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Ms. Djurdjevic.  Mr. Selznick?


MR. SELZNICK:  Thank you.  I am conscious of the Board's time, and know from your advice you have read the material.  So I am not going to read verbatim, but I do want to highlight some points in our materials and perhaps speak to some of the statements contained or the arguments contained in compliance counsel's materials, and then I'm free to answer any questions you may have on the materials, or I will turn the matter over to Mr. Tunley for his position.  


From the 10,000-foot view, this is a matter of a disciplinary nature, seeking an order of compliance and administrative penalties and a suspension against Summitt Energy Management Inc., and it relates to, in the notice of motion, 28 specifically identified circumstances of alleged misrepresentation, non-compliance with the Act and various codes and regulations.  


For confidentiality purposes today, I don't think I am going to mention any names, but I may refer to individuals by initials, and those initials correspond to the initials of the individuals in the Notices of Motion -- or notice of motion.  And the 28 incidents essentially comprise allegations of non-compliance by five independent agents at the time engaged by Summitt Energy Management Inc.


Five are alleged against an agent identified as AB, eight against an agent identified by MG, six against an agent identified by GS, and four -- five against an agent identified by the initials AT, and four against an agent identified as GW.


None of these allegations, none of these specific references, complaints, pertain to the same complainant, consumer; they're all different consumers.  They occur on different dates.  They occur in different geographic locations.  The allegations are different.  And but for the fact that they're grouped by alleged agent involved, they have no other similarity between them, other than that these individuals at the time were representing Summitt Energy Management Inc.


Our position is that they are really 28 separate cases and each has to be addressed at a hearing on the merits.  


My friend, I think, specifically or correctly identifies the onus he has to prove the allegations on the balance of probabilities.  


And because of that and the disciplinary nature and the outcome here, we believe that there is a requirement for the orders requested in our notice of motion, and I am going to just run through each very quickly.  The argument is fully set out.  The materials are fully set out with the cross-reference of the cases, but I do want to identify some of them and highlight them for your consideration.  


Before I do that, I do want to reference one thing, and that is the suggestion that perhaps what we're asking for here will unduly prolong or protract this proceeding.  It is not the intention of Summitt Energy to do that.  It is the intention of Summitt Energy to fully understand the case against it, in order to put a full and complete answer and defence into this case.  


In these types of cases, the answer and defence will be principally determining whether the compliance counsel has met its onus, and if it has met its onus, to submit evidence on the allegations per se, to then address issues relating to that that may deflect the claim as against Summitt Energy.  In addition, the defence will be, if the allegations are proved, issues concerning the quantum of penalty and the remedy sought by compliance counsel.  


It is because of that that -- and Mr. Tunley notes this in his materials -- that there is an intention to make full and complete disclosure on a timely basis of materials relating to the case, and we have received some disclosure.  


The issues are not so much around the disclosure that has been made.  The issues surround how this proceeding will proceed as a hearing on the merits, how the evidence will be entered, as opposed to disclosure itself made of background information, and what opportunity Summitt Energy will have to mount a defence in the face of 28 separate complaints grouped into one hearing, and the defence of whether there will be 28 witnesses at the hearing, or it has to prepare evidence in circumstances where witnesses will not be present in person, and also to speak to expert evidence that Summitt Energy may submit.  


Because this case -- and I will speak to this issue in a moment -- relates principally to the credibility of the witnesses, the complainants involved, I am somewhat reticent in this proceeding today to speak to the underlying issues that give rise to our request for a technical conference and an Issues Conference and the matters addressed in my timetable. 


I will, in fairness, hint at them and suggest issues that need to be addressed in these various things, but the motion today is not to determine the validity of those issues to be held at a technical conference or at an Issues Conference, or what questions might be posed on an examination of a complainant.  


The purpose of this motion is to determine whether there should be a timetable that provides an orderly proceeding in this motion -- in this matter, so that at the time we get to a hearing, Summitt Energy knows the case it must meet and would have been able to have been afforded an opportunity to defend that case, because right now all we have is a notice of motion with allegations and we have disclosure about allegations.  


So –- and I also don't want to, in this particular proceeding, telepath necessarily the nature of the evidence that may be equivocal that a witness can then refresh their memory or rehabilitate themselves on the stand, when the only thing involved in this case is really credibility per se.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I don't want to interrupt your flow, Mr. Selznick, but there was a hearing day.  A hearing date had been established for this case, which was today.  


MR. SELZNICK:  That's correct.  And I am just going to now address the timetable that occurred between the June 17th date and the date that the procedural order came out addressing that date of the 23rd.


This case, as you know, the notice of intention was issued on the 17th of June.  There were conversations and communications with the OEB.  I am not at liberty at that talk about those.  They were off the record and agreed by both parties.  It is not that the parties were silent, and I really can't go into those conversations specifically, but they were active negotiations, almost on a daily basis, with compliance counsel, followed by disclosure of compliance counsel's materials close to that time.


We had an unfortunate incident between an earthquake that closed this office and the G20 that closed our office that resulted in a request for a one-week extension or a short extension to file a notice of request for a hearing, and that was granted.  And the request for the hearing was filed on a timely basis within the extended period of time.


There were continuing discussions with compliance counsel in this matter.  I am, again, not at liberty to discuss the substance of those, because they were off the record by mutual agreement, but the matter had not been silent.


The notice of setting a hearing date was issued, with respect, without any consultation of counsel that I am aware of on our side of the table.  It was a date that was simply set.  We are not really sure why it was set at that date, but it was set at a date before there was any conversation about what procedural steps would need to be taken in this matter, and when the compliance staff's evidence would be fixed and set, not just as disclosure.  In this type of disciplinary case, there is a high degree of professional procedural fairness required, and our case law cited substantiates that fact.  We were fully expecting that there would be some direction, either in a procedural order setting the date of the hearing, or in a separate procedural order advising us of the hearing date, setting a date by which the parties would make disclosure, would file the documents that they would be relying upon as evidence.


We were fully expecting some form of interrogatory order, given that we fully anticipated that there would be some evidence from the Board itself, not just from the complainants, and that happened to be the case.  And that was provided to us on the 10th and 11th of August.  But the actual 23rd date was somewhat of a surprise to us in that regard.


I think, in fairness, the motion was timely made for today.  The materials were a draft of the timetable we had proposed - and I want to talk about that timetable a little bit in a few minutes - was provided to compliance counsel.


The response we got in the e-mails - if you read the materials, the e-mails are contained in the motion materials - there was not a lot of pushback on perhaps some type of timetable.  It is just really a statement that the timetable wasn't necessary in the circumstances and the compliance staff would continue to make timely disclosure as they felt appropriate and materials came to their attention, which doesn't really help us much in a credibility case, as I am going to mention in a second.


So although my friend in his materials talks about it being two weeks after that original conversation before the motion was filed, the motion was filed shortly thereafter.  We had the intervening long weekend in July, and we had to prepare motion materials to deal with the issues addressed in the timetable so we can have a fulsome discussion today about them.  It wasn't just a notice of motion proposing, Here is a timetable and please consider it.  We took the time to do a notice of motion that actually addressed the issues in the timetable.


The timetable was filed on August 4th.  And with no disrespect to the Board, had we received a notice after that that there would be a procedural notice, there would be a hearing on the motion the next day or the week after, we really would have been ready at any time.  I apologize for the mix-up of our factum.  


In our discussions with the Secretary's office, Secretary's office here at the Board, on filing a notice of motion we were advised to file the factum once we received notice of when the motion would be heard and that would probably address the filing of the factum, as well.


So but for that, we would have been ready to hear this motion on the 17th.  


To be honest with you, the evidence in defence will take longer than today to prepare, because I was going to mention a lot of it depends upon the credibility of the complainants in question and whether they're going to be called or not going to be called, and I will address that very briefly without getting into the large merits in a moment.


There is a requirement here in this timetable - I am going to refer you to the timetable in a few minutes - that has two facts.  There is a procedural step contemplated, and then there is a date by which it is to occur.


Now, we have not sought the Board to mandate every single procedural step that we have mentioned.  We have simply provided a timetable that calls for the opportunity for that step and sets a time window on a party to pursue that step, if they are going to take that step.


Now, if I could, just for the moment, refer you to the affidavit of Lester, which is the unmarked exhibit because it was attached to the notice of motion.  It is the August 4th affidavit of Daniel Lester.


If I refer you to an exhibit to that affidavit, Exhibit F -- sorry, Exhibit E to that affidavit, this is the draft timetable with the one change that we mentioned in the Lester affidavit, which is to provide for expert evidence.


I am just going to speak to this.  If I can just run through this briefly, and then I will go back to my presentation on the merits of the requests we're making.  But the timetable basically starts on a date to be set by the Board.  We are in your hands on that, and we will accommodate the Board and make ourselves available.


I can't give you a list.  I will give you a suggested list of things that we may want to discuss at a technical conference in a few moments, but it starts with a technical conference, because there are issues here of a technical nature, including confidentiality that arose on Friday, that need to be addressed, and how we exchange documents and materials with the Board and how the Board communicates with Summitt Energy.


We are dealing with consumers who have made complaints, who have provided personal information in their complaints.  They're allegations.  They're not findings of fact, these complaints.  We don't want, necessarily, bad references to be made against those individuals.  They are entitled to some degree of anonymity within the confines of this being a public process.


Similarly, the five agents who are not represented here today, there is personal information about them that will come out in this hearing, including their names, their addresses, their telephone numbers.  We intend to share that with the compliance counsel, as well, in our disclosure to them.  They are entitled to speak to these witnesses, as far as we are concerned, just as we are entitled to speak to their witnesses.  And, again, the allegations against them are only allegations.  We really don't want to besmirch of their credibility and their job opportunities if these complaints are never proven out before the Board.


So there is a technical conference stage that we think is appropriate, and I will come back to that in a second.


There is then to be a stage 2 step; that is, to file the evidence to be relied upon.  And you will see when I speak in a few moments, and as I have spoken in our materials, in a disciplinary proceeding, it is really important that we know what the evidence is, not just the complaint.


If the notice of intention is read carefully, there are allegations of misrepresentation and failing to take steps within the act, specific allegations on a consumer-by-consumer basis.


I would invite the Board to take a look at the witness statements that have been proffered by the compliance staff, and the statements are, to be honest, equivocal in nature.  They are will-say statements saying this is what the witness will be attesting to, but in a disciplinary procedure where the issue surrounds whether the person made a misrepresentation, for example, or not, there is no statement of what the misrepresentation is.


There are statements such as, "I was left with the impression" or "I believed".  These are statements that need to be explored, and we do need evidence on their behalf.  And I will come back to that when we talk about that in a few minutes.  


So there is a date by which to file and serve the evidence so we know exactly what the case is against Summitt Energy and the defence can be prepared.  We will undertake to provide a timely defence.  There is no intention to drag this matter out, but this list -- for example, number 2, speaks of expert witnesses.


I understand from my friend that there will be no expert witness for the Board, but I think there should be a date by with that is determined and stated for sure on the public record.  There will be expert witnesses on behalf of Summitt Energy, I can tell you now.  And I think in fairness to my friend, our expert witnesses will provide reports, and, just as we are requesting interrogatories of compliance staff, I fully would expect my friend to provide questions before the hearing on the expert's evidence so they can properly understand and appreciate that evidence to be able to address it when it is presented before the Board.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Selznick, is your expert evidence ready today?


MR. SELZNICK:  Our expert evidence is not ready today.  It depends upon the disclosure we have requested be made by the Board on the RRRs.  That is why we made that request at the time.


The third step is probably the most contentious step in this timetable, and I wouldn't suggest that the baby be thrown out with the bath water if the Board rules against this specific step.


But the credibility of these 28 witnesses -- we have 28 witnesses.  We have approximately 31 witness statements.  So in three of the cases, there may be one witness other than the consumer, per se, who signed the contract in question for the supply of energy.  


But all of these cases, this is a sort of unique case, I believe.  We couldn't find too much or anything before the Board of a similar nature.  The parties to this action or to this case are compliance counsel and Summitt Energy.  


The witnesses, these 31 complainants, are not employees, they're not staff of the compliance counsel.  They're independent citizens who have filed a complaint and who will be witnesses for compliance staff, as I understand it.


Interrogatories are not really appropriate; under the rules, interrogatories are to be made of parties.  They're not parties.  They're third parties to this proceeding.  They're going to be witnesses.  I am not sure I would really want to ask in a credibility case a very pointed question on a matter of the witness's credibility in a written statement to compliance staff, who put it to the witness and have the ability to edit the answer, much as the witness statement has been edited and prepared.  We really want to hear what the witness has to say, and the credibility of the witness on the case.  


If this was a piece of civil litigation where we had 31 people standing at the corner of Yonge and Eglinton watching a car speed through the intersection, hit another, those witnesses have no connection to the case.  There is no ulterior motive to craft their evidence, to perhaps remember it honestly in a different way than it occurred, to be selective in the use of the words that they use.  


It is quite something different in this case.  Each one of these 28 witnesses -- leaving aside the three others where there is some degree of corroboration -- each one of these three witnesses is a party to the transaction, and that individual's evidence is no stronger than the evidence of the salesperson at the door.  There is no one else who overheard the conversation.  There is no one else who witnessed the conversation.  There is no recording of the conversation on tape that we are aware of that's been presented in disclosure.  It is solely a he-said-and-she-said case, and the credibility of the witness thus is tremendously important.  And the first opportunity we don't want to speak to the witness is on the stand.  


Now, with that in mind, we did try to reach these witnesses.  We used the telephone numbers and information provided in the complaint reports provided to us by compliance counsel.  And the affidavits of Soerg and Lindenberg speak to their attempts to try and reach these people.  And we have been -- with the exception of three or four individuals, been wholly unable to even reach most of them, let alone speak to them.  


Several of the others who they did speak to, you can tell from the affidavits, refused to answer or speak to us.  


Four or five agreed to speak to us.  Two of those didn't attend the preset telephone conversations we had arranged.  And the others had some quite telling information.  Now, I am quite content to provide the subject matter of those conversations, because they were recorded, to compliance counsel with our evidence and transcripts of our materials, and I -- we can address that when we come to it, but I don't think that's going to be a huge issue in this case.  When the transcripts are done, we have no problem in providing them to compliance counsel.  


But of 31 cases, I can tell you that at least one of the three that I spoke with, we have already determined there is going to have to be another witness we are going to have to call.  I would not want to have raised that at the hearing of the merits and have to seek an adjournment while that person is called.


I can refer you, if I might have the binder -- this is where my materials are.  I don't know if you have this binder, but in the disclosure material that was provided by compliance counsel -- 


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  The Board does not have the disclosure material. 


MR. SELZNICK:  I can suggest that -- I will refer to the notice of motion, then.  In the notice of motion -- 


MR. TUNLEY:  Mr. Sommerville, we do have copies in the hearing room, but compliance counsel have a mild preference for you not to look at it.  Just so -- but if you are to look at it, it must be with Summitt's consent and Mr. Selznick's consent, because I don't want any suggestion that by looking at unsworn material prior to the hearing, you have in any way tainted yourselves.


 So that is why we have proceeded as we have, just so that you understand.  


MR. SELZNICK:  I am content if we can just simply look at the notice of motion -- the notice of intention, rather, because it is recited in the -- the individual is recited in the notice of intention.  And this is not -- I am not officially giving you evidence.  I am only suggesting what was relayed to me in this one conversation, which requires further explanation.  One of the reasons why we would ask here -- I will just have to refer to the -- it would be in paragraph 3, numbered 3 of the notice of intention.  It would be paragraph 3.1.5 of the notice of intention.  


It recounts a circumstance that on August 6th, 2008, GS attended the residence of PK in Hamilton.  


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  We have that. 


MR. SELZNICK:  Now, in my brief -- this is one of three complainant witnesses who actually agreed to speak with me on the telephone, even reluctantly.


 This witness tells me that her daughter provided the information to the Ontario Energy Board and helped her write her complaint.  And that is an issue that we need to explore, and we need to examine the daughter to determine what was actually said, which words were the complainant's.  And the complainant told me the daughter was not present when the statements were made at the door.  


So this is a perfect example of one of those circumstances where we really don't want to be here, have the Board set aside a week or two for this matter, speak -- have this witness present, speak to her, and then to find out for the first time that there is -- actually her words are not her words; they're someone else who is not there, and we have to bring this other person in on a summons or otherwise to speak to them about what words were theirs and which words were the complainant's per se.


 So that is but one example of the reason why we would like to examine or interview these witnesses.  


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Are you seeking an order from the Board requiring these witnesses to talk to you?  


MR. SELZNICK:  I am seeking an order from the Board requesting their current telephone numbers and addresses, because I am not sure a lot of the ones we called and left messages for or didn't have answering machines may have been their correct numbers.  


I assume, from my discussions with the Board -- with compliance staff, rather, that compliance staff has been in touch with these witnesses.  I can tell you from the ones I spoke to, they are very touchy about telling you anything about their conversations with compliance staff.  We are asking that these individuals -– that an order be issued to these individuals to be interviewed.  I would prefer an interview under oath, because it makes the examination on a credibility issue in this room at a later date much more valuable.


 MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So let's be clear.  You are seeking an order from the Board to require the witnesses to be interviewed by you, to make themselves available for an interview?


MR. SELZNICK:  Correct. 


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And that that interview should be under oath?


MR. SELZNICK:  It should be under oath.  If the Board is not prepared to do it under oath, I would take an interview not under oath, as our witness statements are not under oath, but they would be recorded, a transcript and a tape provided to the Board.



 MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That does not appear in your motion material.  


MR. SELZNICK:  Excuse me a moment.  I think that it might -- it might.  Actually, I think where it is dealt with is in the matter of the technical conference, if I can just take a moment to look.  


If you look in the notice of motion, paragraph D on page 6, "Prehearing examinations of credibility of witnesses," so paragraphs 29 through to 34.  


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Yes.  It says:

"Fairness dictates that you be provided an opportunity to test this evidence in advance of the hearing during prehearing oral examinations."


 Isn't that what your staff were engaged in doing as part of the –-


 MR. SELZNICK:  But we have not been able -- there seems to be a great reluctance to speak to us, and if the Board --


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Right.  But you are seeking an order from the Board requiring the witnesses?


MR. SELZNICK:  Yes.  


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Does that appear here?  


MR. SELZNICK:  That –- that is the true meaning of this request.  


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.  So thank you for that clarification.  Sorry, go on. 


MR. SELZNICK:  Okay.  Thank you.  


If we can go back now to the draft order that we are referring to, we use the term "cross-examinations" but the ideal examination will be an examination under oath, because it could be put to the witness to test their credibility here in this room before the Board, would save a lot of time and effort, may very well -- may very well help streamline the evidence in this case.


We have evidence in this case about verification calls that many of these complainants are parties to, that are recorded, and copies will be provided to compliance counsel on the cases they wish to proceed with.  We are not even sure if all of these 28 cases are going forward.


If witnesses in cross-examination are prepared to concede that they did participate in the verification call, to identify the verification call from their side, we don't need to bring the witnesses in from Summitt Energy to say, We were party to a telephone call with this individual and here is the verification call.


We have 28 -- at least 28 sets of tape recordings, well more than an hour's worth of tape or two hour's worth of tape recordings, that would not need to be presented to the Board if witnesses would admit that they participated in an affirmative verification call.  We would play the calls for the witness.  They can answer that under oath.  They can say, It is my voice, that is not my voice.  It avoids having to call the various individuals of Summitt Energy who actually made the calls in the service department there.


There would be no need to prove the contracts if the witnesses agreed, That is the contract I signed, that is my signature.  There are several procedural steps that could quite effectively be done outside this boardroom and presented at an issues conference after the conclusion of the examinations, whereby the issues were narrowed to what was really an issue in this proceeding.


All of these time frames in this notice of motion aren't fix dates.  They are just dates relating on the previous step.  So if the previous step isn't needed, it falls away.


So if you look at step 9, for example, step 9 is the filing of SEM's evidence upon which it will rely at the oral hearing, documents and the like.  Our examinations may take us afield, depending upon whether we do receive responses, if there were others who assisted in the preparation of evidence in the complaint in answer to interrogatories and the like.


We are quite content to say, within ten days following receipt of that material, we would file our evidence.  We are not asking for months and years to do this.


Interrogatories, I am providing for a one-week period following the filing of evidence to ask interrogatories --


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I understood you to be saying you weren't relying upon your request for interrogatories earlier.  Is that right?


MR. SELZNICK:  No, no.  No.  I am relying upon the request for interrogatories.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  You still want interrogatories, as well?


MR. SELZNICK:  Yes, yes.  Interrogatories of the compliance staff counsel.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.


MR. SELZNICK:  If the Board doesn't -- I think my comment was if the Board doesn't see fit to order witnesses to attend for cross-examination, we would be prepared to examine witnesses not under oath, but just as an interview.  I don't think that is as beneficial to the Board as being on a cross-examination, because I don't think we can put it to the Board that this witness admitted a verification call unless it is under oath.  It wouldn't be evidence in this proceeding, and the witness would have to come and attest to that fact again.


Then following the interrogatory process, which in our process here is a maximum of two weeks - a maximum of two weeks - there would be a request for an issues conference, at which point we could probably, through some discussions with the Board and with compliance counsel, hone in on what the real issues are to be put to the Board on each of the cases involved.  We could ask about each case.  We could deal with each case.


My thinking now is, with 28 cases to be put to the Board, each with a different complainant, a different set of facts, hearing compliance staff's presentation on all 28 cases and my cross-examination on all 28 cases, and then my evidence on all 28 cases, won't assist anyone in understanding the facts of each case.


My proposal now, and I suspect it will be borne out by the time we would have an issues conference or a prehearing conference, would be to suggest that we deal with each of the 28 cases on a case-by-case basis, have the compliance counsel's evidence goes in on the first case, my cross-examination of that case, my evidence on that case, their cross-examination on the case, and then move to the next one, so at least the Board gets some totality of the cases as they go along.  


It would also be of great benefit to the witnesses, because it wouldn't require witnesses to sit here for an unknown length of time.  They could be scheduled in and be told to be here on this date, on that date or whatever.  


I think these are just the things that touch the surface of why there should be some procedural regularity to this hearing, not simply a statement that, Oh, there will be a hearing on August 23rd and be ready.


On that basis, we wouldn't even know until the week before whether all of the evidence would be there, on top of which a lot this evidence -- and I know my friend takes a different position.  This evidence deals all with issues of character and the matters that the Board requires to be dealt with and served 15 days before the hearing.


The Marijan affidavit was served 13 days before the August 23rd hearing.  So even a date after August 23rd serves, I think, to better my friend's position and save his evidence in that respect, but we do need to have a good 15 days between all of their evidence being in, especially on the character evidence, on the compliance evidence, which is -- these compliance provisions are all matter of character.  We really need to have that evidence in well before to test that character, especially in a case where it relies solely on the evidence of the witness.


So if we look at our timetable, this timetable does not drag on an inordinate length of time.  It does not require ADR.  It simply provides for ADR.  In our motion materials, we suggested it might be good to provide some window that if a party wanted to consider ADR after all of their evidence was in on both sides, a short window -- I think in my materials here I suggested three days following the issues conference that either party could request some ADR-facilitated mediation.  


It is a very short window.  If that doesn't happen, it doesn't happen, but it might give rise to a -- as my friend mentions in his materials, an opportunity for the parties to discuss a compliance order or a compliance order, in part, on the evidence.  And then a prehearing conference to talk about the issues I just had mentioned about how we would actually schedule the hearing.


My own view, I don't know the Board's schedule, but I was led to believe the Board has set aside five business days for this hearing.  I personally don't think, based upon what I have seen, that that would be enough.  I think if there are 28 witnesses or 31 witnesses called in this matter by the compliance counsel, and their evidence-in-chief goes in and cross-examination, I think we would be hard pressed to deal with two of those witnesses a day, one in the morning and one in the afternoon.


And there alone, we are well over a week, and that is without opening or closing statements.  That is without other witnesses.  That is without the defendant's case and their expert witnesses and summation.


So I think anything we can do to simplify this proceeding is important.


Now, I won't belabour the materials that we had submitted.  I just do want to, though, point out a couple of things.


The first thing is that there is a higher standard in a disciplinary proceeding to the ability to know the case we have to meet.  This is again purely, in our perspective, a character and a credibility case of what a witness has said at the door.  And we have grave concerns, based upon the limited investigations we have done and interviews we have done, that there will be significant issues surrounding that.


The interrogatories, I think, are important so far as the Marijan affidavit is concerned, because it raises issues that go beyond simply the complaint, per se, including things such as the way the complaint forms were completed, the way the complaints were investigated.  Many of these complaints go back to -- one in 2008, many to 2009, and yet we are hearing -- and they were noted concluded on the materials that we have received in disclosure, and we need to really explore how these arose into complaints in 2010 and investigations into 2010.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Couldn't you simply ask questions under cross-examination?


MR. SELZNICK:  We can, but it may be easier to ask those in advance in interrogatories and be able to truth test those answers.  It may do away with the need to cross-examine them totally.  Those would be by written interrogatories.  That is not an examination under oath.


So, again, all we are doing is looking for an ability to have some regularization to this process to avoid being jammed into a circumstance where the defence is really a fly-by-the-seat-of-your-pants in a hearing room, examining a witness, asking a witness to recall some event, finding they have a very clear recollection of everything that is important to them and a rather hazy recollection or fudgy recollection on other matters that can be investigated well before the hearing, to truth test that person's credibility.


That is our position on the timetable, per se.


We have, in the motion materials, set out -- in our case compendium set out the cases we are relying upon.  We have highlighted, I believe, in the copies, the hand-delivered copies - and I think in the e-mail copies as well, because they're in colour - in yellow paragraphs of the various cases that I think are particularly relevant to this circumstance.  I encourage you to take a look at those.


On that, I think I will conclude my statements, subject to perhaps replying to statements my friend might make on his submissions.  If you want me to speak to the UWO matter now or the RRR matter, I will, or maybe my friend would want to respond to this matter first.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Why don't we hear your submissions on those other two issues?


MR. SELZNICK:  They're very short, and our position really hasn't changed, to be honest with you, since our materials were filed.  So perhaps all I really need to do is refer you to those materials, with the underscore that because this is a disciplinary proceeding and the party sought to be disciplined is Summitt Energy and compliance counsel are really the other party to this matter, as opposed to a rate hearing, this is not really a matter on these 28 cases of particular public importance in having public input into these 28 cases.


I would agree that the new regulations for which there are stakeholder meetings going on now, dealing with these issues, proposed for the late fall or early next year, are matters that should be addressed in an open forum and a public forum.  And I think my friend from the University of Western Ontario, his views would be very valuable in that process, but I don't really think he can add anything to these 28 cases.


Since we filed our materials, he has responded kindly, saying he is not really leading evidence on these 28 cases, but wants to speak more to the penalty if these cases are proven.  But then again, I am not really sure that the penalty in these cases warrants any outside involvement from someone who could only bring to the table anecdotal evidence about other complaints or other involvements with Summitt Energy for which there is no evidentiary basis in this hearing.


So on that basis, we don't really think there should be an intervenor status.  It expands the scope well beyond the scope of this particular hearing, and again -- which is one of the things we wanted to address in a technical conference, to make sure the scope of this hearing was limited to the 28 cases that we have before us today. 


The other matter, which is the RRR information, is that -- I will just very briefly -- you have our letter which requests the information. 


We understand that information is collected by the Board from the self-reporting of the people in the industry.


That information -- and not all of it is available to the public for the dates that we are looking for -- it is important for our expert evidence to at least look at that information to determine whether we can draw conclusions about general industry trends.  These 28 cases, we believe -- and when we cross-examine the witnesses or get other information about them, I think this will prove to be the fact from listening to verification calls and other things -- that are there are other motivations to seeking removal from these contracts:  buyer's remorse, inability to understand not necessarily the contract but the background in the energy industry, the provincial benefits component of their bills.  And what our witnesses intend to do is to look at that information and assimilate and analyze to determine if they can determine trends that may give some credible basis to suggest that there may be other motivations for these specific consumers other than alleged misrepresentations, which is not clear from the disclosure material.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So let me be clear about what the expert evidence is going to be focussing on. 


You are looking for a portion of materials filed pursuant to the RRR process?


MR. SELZNICK:  Yes. 


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That are not publicly available at this point? 


MR. SELZNICK:  Right.  They're not. 


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And the purpose is to have an expert -- have you identified your expert --


MR. SELZNICK:  We have identified an expert. 


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  -- testify to the variety of reasons that consumers may have to seek to cancel contracts? 


MR. SELZNICK:  That's correct.  To put it -- to be a little bit more precisely, we have no -- it would be wrong to suggest that the expert will say today, without looking at the evidence, what his evidence will be. 


But in order to draw conclusions, he needs to look at information about returning to system and people who are signing these contracts, and we are not looking at this information on a supplier-by-supplier basis.  We are looking for aggregate information.  There's no issues of confidentiality we're really concerned about.  We just want to know in the periods that these people are looking to cancel their contracts, what is the trend of returning to system in those periods, because we believe that there are other motivating factors here.


Now, my expert doesn't know the answer to that, but says in analyzing these materials -- will assist to determine that.


If his analysis is that it does, that will be his evidence.  If his analysis is it doesn't, there will be no evidence.  There is no point in having him --


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  My concern is the materiality of it. 


MR. SELZNICK:  We believe it is material, because in these 28 cases, we believe -- and you have to appreciate our evidence is not in in these cases, and I think probably an issue of the materiality of the use of the material, as my friend has quite rightly made -– suggested, and I agree with him, he can reserve his entitlement to question the materiality of the use of the material, is different from the material itself.


We can't even get to the stage of determining whether the evidence would be material without seeing the information. 


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  My concern with the materiality, Mr. Selznick, is this.  We have a series of allegations, a series of complaints and complainants. 


I gather that the purpose of this expert evidence is to sort of undermine the complainant in each of these cases by saying:  Well, there is more than one reason why this particular complainant may want to cancel the contract. 


MR. SELZNICK:  Correct.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  We are looking at that not from this particular complainant's state of mind or approach or reaction, but a kind of general trend kind of analysis.  Is that what you are looking for? 


MR. SELZNICK:  It is fair to say that in a circumstance where we have yet to hear the witness say:  These are the words spoken, or this is the actual thing that happened, as opposed to the more general statements in these witness statements involved, I think it is important to understand the circumstances.


The commission has -- or the Board, compliance staff has chosen 28 cases in a certain time frame, and it is that time frame that we want to look at. 


Our expert had testified in this regard in the 1990s in similar circumstances, and is plotting his information similarly.  I think if this trend does prove, I think it is a matter that has to be considered by the Board on a matter of credibility.  It is not definitive evidence.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So what specific information from the RRRs is not available on the public record that you are actually seeking an order from us to get? 


MR. SELZNICK:  If you look at my letter, which is -- if you look at the second Lester affidavit, which I believe is -- and I have to apologize, because I am not an expert in the inner workings of the Board, but if you look, I believe, at the second affidavit of Lester, the letter that we have there sets out -- it is at Exhibit E.  It sets out the information we are looking for.  It's on page 2 for gas customers, for electric customers, and then this last bit here in the third full paragraph:

"Furthermore, if the Board has data in its possession regarding the number of return-to-system customers for each of gas or electric customers, please provide data in the Board's possession."


Our expert tells us that is not generally available to the public.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.  Fine.  Are those your submissions?


MR. SELZNICK:  Those are our submissions, subject to any questions.  If my friend has said anything, maybe I perhaps can reply to some of his comments.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Tunley?

Submissions by Mr. Tunley:


MR. TUNLEY:  Thank you.  I will divide my comments to the Board and my submissions into four areas, if I may.


Just first deal with some issues of background and the facts, the notice of hearing and the nature of these proceedings. 


The second area I will deal with in detail is disclosure. 


The third is the request for prehearing examination of witnesses, which I now understand includes not only the request for under-oath, sworn examinations, but also the alternative, as I understand it, of a Board-ordered interview.  So I will deal with both those two things together.


And finally, I will deal with my friend's request for the other procedures, interrogatories, technical conference, Issues Conference, together.


I will also address the intervenor issue and the request for RRR reporting material.


So just in terms of the background --


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Sorry, Mr. Tunley, just so that I give you fair warning, it is our practice to rise at about 11:00 o'clock.


MR. TUNLEY:  That will be fine.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  If you can organize your remarks to have a natural break around that time, that would be helpful.


MR. TUNLEY:  It is hard to do that, but let me just invite you to tell me when we get there and we'll break.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I will remind you.


MR. TUNLEY:  I may not notice, so don't hesitate to interrupt.


In terms of the background, first of all, I agree with Mr. Selznick's comment to you that each of these 28 complaints are separate.  But I don't agree that they are not similar.


We are going to -- it is a matter for the hearing and certainly you don't need to rule on it today, but part of the case for compliance counsel is that there are similarities and patterns of the conduct, which of course is important in terms of assessing the involvement of Summitt itself, rather than the individual agents concerned.


So we will get to that.  But the notice of hearing, which you have in the affidavit at Exhibit A, as you know, it was made two months ago, June the 17th.  It is very detailed, 18 pages.  It details the 28 incidents of misconduct by five sales agents.  And our submission is those similarities and patterns of conduct are evident even in the notice of hearing itself.


It also, though, raises issues of remedies.  A compliance order is sought and an interim compliance order, as you know, was made June the 17th.  It seeks suspension of door-to-door sales activities by Summitt, and it seeks administrative penalties.


So when we come to the interim compliance order, that is in the compendium, Exhibit K.3.  It is in tab 1.  I have also given you in the compendium -- there has been correspondence filed with the Board between June 28th and July 7th about steps taken by Summitt to comply with the interim compliance order.


So that is dealt with in our factum at paragraphs 12 and 14.  You have the information.  The correspondence in the compendium.


The significance, obviously, is that despite these steps taken, the July 30 -- subsequent to July 30, there have been further similar complaints which are ongoing issues for compliance counsel.  They are part of the disclosure, as I will come to it.


So when we talk about the issues --


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Tunley, let me indicate that the Board is a little uncomfortable with the allegations of non-compliance that postdate the notice of intention and the inclusion of those allegations in the matter that is before us.


If you want to raise those issues specifically for effect in this case, I think you are going to have to do that very specifically and very pointedly at the commencement of the hearing and demonstrate to the Board that there is a legal basis and a -- well simply that, that there is a legal basis upon which the Board ought to be considering those when it considers the 28 allegations that have been expressly documented in the notice of intention.


MR. TUNLEY:  Thank you.  I will do that.  I will do that in detail at the start of the hearing.  Let me just premise it right now, because the issue was raised because Summitt's responsibility, as you know, under the Codes of Conduct - I believe it is section 1.5 in each of the codes - is to ensure that these don't happen.


And that is what it here for.  This is a compliance hearing about why these complaints are occurring and what Summitt is not doing or is doing wrong that these complaints are coming forward.


That is an ongoing issue and that is the purpose of these proceedings, and it is an ongoing issue particularly because of the interim compliance order which this Board has already made.


So that I am going to tell you now that is how they become relevant, obviously.  You are going to be asked at the end of the hearing to assess the need for a further compliance order on an ongoing basis, and I am going to ask you to look at those additional complaints in that context:  Are the measures, the due diligence in effect -- are the systems that Summitt has in place today adequate to stop this going forward?  That is the key issue.  That is why we are here.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Well, Mr. Selznick, you have fair warning about opening remarks on the day of when this hearing begins that there is going to be some submissions on that subject and you can prepare yourself accordingly.


MR. SELZNICK:  I do.  And not to take -- interrupt here, but these are the things that I think we really have to discuss at an issues conference.  I think this kind of approach goes far beyond the notice of intention.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Selznick, we are discussing it.  Mr. Tunley.


MR. TUNLEY:  So let me just put that in the context, then, that brings me really to my point, the nature of this proceeding, and I think you have seen my factum.  This proceeding is about compliance with the law by a corporation that is engaged in a highly regulated business.  It is prosecutorial in form, but it is not a criminal matter.


The cases do recognize a spectrum from - and you see this.  I am sure you have read in the cases.  True criminal, indictable prosecutions are at the top end, summary criminal offences, and then there is a category of proceedings in which there are significant impacts on individual rights.  There are disciplinary cases and the rights of individuals to earn a livelihood from a profession.


There are cases such as human rights cases that involve the reputation of individuals and employers, and there are immigration proceedings where the rights of parties and their children to reside in Canada, and so on, are impacted.


Those, I don't I don't know that I need to take you through them, but all of Mr. Selznick's cases are in that, what I will call, disciplinary or individual impact category between criminal cases and what I submit is the fourth category.  This case is really a compliance proceeding.  It is about a corporation.  No individual rights are going to be affected or adjudicated, but it does regulate.  It enforces the requirements of law against a corporation that has a licence to engage in a regulated business.


So just very quickly, in Mr. Selznick's cases, the Baker case at tab 1, if you were to look at pages 23 and 25 particularly, you will see that is a case about an immigration proceeding that has the potential to have severe impacts on the right of an individual to remain in Canada and her children born in Canada to remain here.


Tab 2, the Howe case, and at tab 3, the Kane case, and tab 4, the Markandey case, are all cases involving professionals and their right to carry on their practice, and the Dofasco case is a human rights case, all of them dealing with individuals' reputational interests, and so on, which are really not at play.


This Board has already found that a proceeding such as this one is not in category 3, but is in category 4.  We have given you the Toronto Hydro Electric Systems case at our authorities in tab 1.  You will note -- I will give you the reference to page 7 at paragraph 19.  This Board has said, in the fourth line of paragraph 19:

"There is also a significant difference between disciplinary proceedings where an individual may lose his livelihood and a situation where a corporation faces a sanction by way of fine or administrative penalty. An economic regulator, such as this Board, has little ability to affect human rights in the manner of a criminal or disciplinary proceeding.  No individual is at risk in this case.  Counsel for Toronto suggested that there may be an analogy in that Toronto could lose its license and ability to operate.  Compliance Counsel responded that he is not seeking such a remedy."


Now, in this case, compliance counsel are seeking a very limited remedy with respect to the licence and the interim suspension and suspension orders sought.  It is solely with respect to door-to-door activities, ongoing door-to-door sales, and it is solely for the period until this Board is satisfied that the systems and procedures Summitt has in place are appropriate to meet its obligation of ensuring that compliance by sales agents occur.


So you could say we are a little bit closer to this line because this order is being sought, but I emphasize it is being sought in that very limited scope.


Fundamentally, as well, the difference is the purpose of the proceeding.  This proceeding is not primarily about retroactively punishing the past misconduct.  It is about compliance on an ongoing forward-looking basis.


So the implication is the law is being broken not by Summitt, but by its agents.  But that engages this Board's jurisdiction to step in to ensure that its systems are appropriate and to ensure that the public is protected going forward.


The timeliness of your ability to intervene in that way is obviously critical, and you will have read between the lines of our factum.  One of the concerns we have is that interposing too many procedures, just as a matter of practice, between the filing of a notice of intention, June the 17th, and the eventual hearing date, which was to be August 23rd, now August 30th, the more that is delayed, the less is this Board able to protect the public on an ongoing basis, as it is mandated, in our submission, to do.  


Lastly, in terms of the background, let me just emphasize the nature of the allegations against Summitt.  


Summitt is not alleged itself to have misled anyone.  Obviously, it is -- the fundamental proposition in the proceeding is that its salesmen have done so.  


The allegation, therefore, or the gravamen of Summitt's conduct is, as I've said, that it has failed to prevent these, and in the words of your codes, to ensure that its salespersons adhere to the law as it is written.


Now, that is a due-diligence issue.  The way this proceeding works is our obligation is to prove that breaches of the law have occurred, and then Summitt's obligation is to satisfy you.


If we are successful in that, they have what is called a due-diligence defence.  They have an opportunity, where they bear the onus of proof, to show you that those breaches of the law occurred despite all due diligence; everything is in place to stop these agents, but they're on a frolic of their own.  That is the nature of the list.  


And Summitt's liability is not for the misrepresentation itself.  It is for the lack of due diligence in preventing it from occurring in that sense.  


Let me turn, then, to disclosure.  Disclosure, again, has been dealt with in compliance proceedings of this nature, both by the Federal Court of Appeal in the Ciba-Geigy case, and then by this Board in the Toronto-Hydro case, which I referred you to.


My submission is that this Board is already, in the THSL case, requiring compliance counsel, first of all, to do more than is strictly required.  In the Ciba-Geigy context, a much lower threshold has been set.  But that is all right, because compliance counsel, with the benefit of the Toronto-Hydro decision, have already complied with the standard that this Board requires, which is a high standard.


So let me just take you to that very quickly.  


The Ciba-Geigy case is in our authorities at tabs 3 and 4, and the Board's decision is quoted by the Federal Court of Appeal in tab 4 at page 3.  If I could ask you to turn there and just start there.  


This is the decision ultimately upheld, at the top of page 3.  It is really the first three lines.

"In the Board's view in a hearing before it, the party to whom the hearing relates must be provided with the level of disclosure and production which ensures that the party is fully informed of the case to be made against it."


Now, the significance of that, you will know the facts of the case, but the -- essentially, the Board's counsel -- it is the Patent Medicines Prices Review Board -- had only disclosed those items of information -- notes, documents -- which it intended to rely on.  It held everything else back, including an internal report to the Board that had generated the particular proceeding in this case.  


So that they were holding back a lot of material, and that was upheld in a compliance-type proceeding.  


And this Board, I could take you to -- tab 3 is the reasons of Justice McKeown, which are very helpful to you, and tab 4 is the Federal Court of Appeal.  Both uphold the decision of the Patent Medicines Review Board, and they don't require further review.


Compare that to this Board's practice; in my submission, a good practice.  At tab 1, page 9, in paragraph 24, this Board has ordered compliance counsel to produce all documents relating to smart metering activities at Metrogate and Avonshire.


So that would include, and has included in this case, documents that compliance -- that are relevant in a broad sense, that relate to the subject matter of the complaints, but are not ones we intend to rely on.


So for example, the memorandum of compliance staff and counsel seeking authority to proceed has been -- and all of the analysis behind it has been produced, even though that will not appear in evidence before you.  


So the Board has set a high standard, and you can be satisfied compliance counsel, in my respectful submission, is complying with that.  


So this brings me to what has been provided, and I have summarized this in our factum.  As you know, we have prepared the disclosure briefs.  If you need to look at it, if there is any issue, then you can, but we provided in our factum at paragraph 13, by June 24th -- so seven days after -- a lot of the material that is still somehow being requested in this motion.  


So in paragraph 13, for each of the 28 complainants, there is a witness statement which sets out in summary the anticipated oral evidence that we will be leading.  Included for each of the 28 complaints are all of the documents received by the Board, whether from the complainant or from Summitt, that in any way relate: all written records of contacts, so those are the memorandum of the telephone reporting, they are -- Ms. Marijan's notes -- sorry, notes are separately set out in item 4; any other documents in compliance staff's investigation file that in any way relate to these 28 complaints; forms of letters that have been used by compliance staff in communicating in the matter, both with the complainants and others, are set out; and the complete briefing note prepared by compliance staff and counsel, setting out their analysis.


So Summitt really had, within seven days of the commencement of this hearing, a fairly comprehensive package.  You will know that in paragraph 22(a), there was a decision made and an e-mail of July 30th relating to these additional complaints.  Once they started to come in in a significant number, the decision was made to disclose them.


 I should say -- just to pick up, Mr. Sommerville, on your point -- admissibility of that issue, of those complaints, isn't before you today, simply that we have provided them by way of disclosure.  And similarly, we have provided a witness statement of Ms. Marijan on the -- and other ongoing disclosure.


So all of that was provided more than 15 days before the current start of the hearing date, which is August 30th.  Most of it was prepared, obviously, within seven days of the notice of hearing.  


And in my submission, that -- when you look at the legal standard that this Board is subjected to, disclosure is indeed very fulsome.  


When you look at the requests that are made in the notice of motion, paragraph 2, Mr. Selznick wants witness statements.  Well, those have been provided.


 He wants the names and contact information in paragraphs 3 and 5 of his notice of motion.  Again, you know he has those.  He is indeed calling the witnesses.


 He wants expert evidence that the Board intends to lead.  He has my e-mail of July 27th, Exhibit H to the first affidavit of Mr. Lester, telling him that we don't intend to call any expert evidence, that we don't view the issues raised in this matter as technical or requiring expert evidence.


And you have in that same e-mail my invitation to Mr. Selznick:  If he thinks there is anything missing, please tell me what it is.  


Now, the only thing we have heard about that he is requesting is the RRR reporting data.  So that is before you today; we will deal with that today.  It is not something that is part of compliance counsel's investigation.  So it goes beyond the THESL case to provide that, but I am going to anticipate.  I am actually not opposing that request, and I would like to come to it in order and tell you why.  


But really on disclosure, in our respectful submission, no motion was necessary.  The disclosure has been very fulsome and timely in this case.  


Let me deal then, thirdly, with prehearing examinations.  As I understand notice of motion paragraph 4, the first and preferred request is for a pre-hearing under oath examination of all 28 or 31 complainant witnesses.


As we say in our factum, this is an unprecedented request.  I am not aware of any case law, and none is cited in my friend's factum, to support that process.


In our factum, paragraphs 30 to 31, we have pointed out that the Statutory Powers Procedure Act, section 10.1 makes no such provision.  It provides for cross-examination only "at the hearing".


This Board's own rules of practice and procedure make no such provision, and we have given you the case of Fischer and Milo in the Ontario Superior Court of Justice two years ago, three years ago, a decision of Mr. Justice David Brown, well known to this Board.


In paragraph 1 -- that is in my authorities at tab 5.  If I can just take you to that, because it is very important to see his reasoning.  If you look in paragraph 1, this is a proceeding for contempt of a court order, so it is virtually at the criminal end of the scale.  It is a husband and wife battling it out, unfortunately, in a family law context, and the allegation is of breach of a civil order of Mr. Justice Perell.


The request is by the husband for prehearing cross-examination of the wife, who is alleging that he has -- I believe I have that right.  I may have it back to front, but it doesn't matter.  The request is for prehearing examination by the party who is the subject of the contempt proceeding.


So in Mr. Selznick's client's position, by analogy, requesting prehearing examination of the accuser.


And it is refused.  The reasons are at paragraphs 14 and 18, in my respectful submission, give the reasoning of the Court.  In paragraph 14, Justice Brown says:

"Where, as in the present case, viva voce evidence will be given at the hearing, in my view a pre-hearing cross-examination by Ms. Milo of Mr. Fischer on his affidavit, or any other evidence that Mr. Fischer may adduce by way of affidavit, is not necessary in order to protect Ms. Milo's undoubted right to cross-examine those who give evidence against her.  The right will be satisfied by her opportunity to cross-examine such witnesses at the hearing."


And then, similarly, in paragraph 18, Justice Brown goes on to explain why, as a matter of fairness, that is the right result.  He is concerned about a protraction of proceedings.  He recognizes that credibility is an issue, that credibility as between the husband and wife is going to be an issue, so the analogy to our case is very close.


So even in a court proceeding, this is not required and is not recognized.  Most importantly, Justice Brown finds it is not required as a matter of fairness, even where the allegation is near criminal in nature.


Now, in terms of the alternative relief of an interview, Mr. Selznick already has the information required.  He is able to call up these witnesses and, if they wish to speak with him in interview, they can.


We have expressly recognized there is no property in these witnesses, in the sense that we don't possess their evidence or control them.  We are obliged and have advised the witnesses that they don't have to speak to Mr. Selznick.  They don't.  There is no legal requirement.


And I want to put Mr. Selznick's request for a Board-ordered interview into that context, because really, standing back, these complainants are individuals.  Their cases are resolved one way or another.  They have complained and come forward in the public interest to be witnesses before these -- at this Board.


The compliance process that you superintend absolutely depends on the willingness of witnesses to come forward and participate.  And as compliance counsel, we have to be concerned about this Board ordering steps that may discourage citizens from participating, and I think you have to have that concern.


The last thing I will say about this is Mr. Selznick puts his request for these prehearing examinations with witnesses on the basis that, Well, this is all about credibility.  But, really, as this Board knows and as generally is the case, credibility is best tested at the hearing where there is a presiding Board or court or judge, and not before.


Credibility issues are best dealt with at the hearing itself.  And, in my submission, that is what lies behind the Fischer and Milo case, and that is what should guide this Board.


Now, before moving on to the last of my issues, I note it is a few minutes before 11 o'clock and if this is a convenient place to break?


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  How much longer do you think you might be?


MR. TUNLEY:  I have covered three-quarters of the territory, so I expect 15 to 20 minutes will be more than enough.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Let's carry on, and then, Mr. Selznick, we will break then, and you will have that opportunity to -- actually, we will hear Mr. Hirani, as well.  So we may go to about 11:30, and we will give you an opportunity, Mr. Selznick, to, over the break, collect your thoughts for reply.


MR. SELZNICK:  That's fine.  Thank you.


MR. TUNLEY:  Thank you.  So what I want to do is address the other procedural requests, interrogatories, the technical conference, and the issues conference, and then the ADR, and so on.


Let me -- sorry.  To start this out, first of all, Mr. Selznick referred to filing documents ahead of time or narrowing issues by knowing, for example, whether contracts have been signed, whether -- you know, preparing transcripts of tapes.  There are other documents that are not in dispute.  They're in the disclosure.


I just want to say to the Board and say to Mr. Selznick we are quite prepared, as compliance counsel, to work with him to narrow issues by agreeing that this is so-and-so's signature and they will so testify, that this -- if we have a tape of a conversation that he wants to put to them and a transcript, we are quite prepared, even if the witnesses won't speak to him, to take those to the witness and see if we can get from them ahead of time, Do they take issue?  Will this go in on consent?


So counsel do that in any event, and it is very important, I think, that the Board not intervene and order things that are the normal, necessary function of counsel in a cooperative, though adversarial, setting.  I am just saying on the record we will do those things in any event, and that I believe takes care of many of the issues.


Just let me deal, then, with interrogatories.  As this Board knows, the interrogatory process is very useful in those cases where there are many stakeholders with different perspectives and interests in an issue, and it is very useful in many proceedings before you, and I am sure there will be a temptation to think that it is a good idea in this case.


But you will note the Board's rules, Rule 28.01, it is discretionary.


Here, in my respectful submission, the nature of the list, the fact that it really is -- as Mr. Selznick properly acknowledges, it is really a list between compliance counsel, on behalf of the Board, and Summitt.  No one else is involved.


There is no prefiled evidence without consent of Summitt, in the sense that if he wants to put me to the strict onus of proof, I have to prove every document that I rely on strictly.  That is his right.


So there is no prefiled evidence, and the issues are already defined in great detail in the notice of intention.  They have to be, as a matter of fairness, and they are in this case.


The evidence is straightforward.  It is primarily the evidence of the witnesses, and then the question of Summitt's due diligence.


So when you look at Rule 28.01 and you look at all of the reasons, A, B, C and D, as to why interrogatory process may be useful, actually none of them apply in this kind of proceeding.


And, in my submission, as a matter of practice, this Board ought to recognize -- there is an opportunity to recognize that interrogatories are not necessary in this kind of proceeding.


Now, you will note that they were used in the THSL case.  The THSL case was a very technical issue involving smart metering, new technology, and there were many issues that arose in that case that don't arise in this one.


So I draw a distinction in this kind of case, which is complaint-driven and credibility-driven.  In my respectful submission, you don't need to and should not order interrogatories.  


In terms of a technical conference, really the same analysis applies.  Confidentiality, my friend says, is a technical issue.  As this Board knows, you have a confidentiality protocol.  You don't need to call a technical conference every time confidentiality issues arise.


The issues in this case are terribly straightforward.  It is names and phone numbers of individuals.  It is very routine.  In the notice of hearing, we have redacted that information.  We used initials.  That could be -- you could decide to use that throughout the process, and everything would proceed as it should and there would be no issue of confidentiality in this case.


So again, the Board's Rules, 27.01, cited in our factum at paragraph 36 and 38, it is discretionary.  You may hold a technical conference.  But it is not necessary in this case.  In our respectful submission, the evidence is not going to be technical.  Compliance counsel do not propose to lead expert or technical evidence.  Whether the infractions have occurred is generally not a proper subject matter of expert evidence, and we have had some discussion with Mr. Selznick about that.


So the only technical issue relates to the admissibility and so on of these audio tapes.  I have given you the case law describing the normal process.  First of all, a tape recording of a conversation, if the conversation would otherwise be admissible, is admissible.  The recording is admissible.  But it has to be proven, so either you get an acknowledgement from the person making the relevant statements -- in this case, the complainant -- that yes, that is their voice, yes, they said those things and yes, that is the transcript and it is accurate and so on.  As I've said, we are quite prepared to cooperate with Mr. Selznick to get that lined up ahead of the hearing.  


Or you call the person who took the recording, who listened to the conversation and said -- they give the evidence the other way.  


But either way, it is not a technical issue that requires a technical conference.  Nothing could be achieved at a technical conference that is not being achieved by this Board participating and ruling on the issue with respect to these tapes.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Is it your view, Mr. Tunley, that transcripts are required for any of those or all of those audio recordings?  


MR. TUNLEY:  The cases say -- the case that I have given you, quoting from Sopinka on evidence which is the leading text, says it is good practice.  And let me explain why I think that is the right answer to your question. 


If you introduce tapes, then they play in court or in the Board hearing, and you have the transcript of them, but you are not sure about every word being caught correctly.  If you have a transcript, parties can look at it, the witness can look at it ahead of time and agree, yes, that is accurate.


It makes it quicker, because if you've got two hours of tapes, you don't want to hear two hours of tapes.  Believe me.  There is probably three or four or nine or 10 extracts that you want to have on a separate piece of paper each, so that the evidence can go in at the hearing in an efficient way.  


So I think at the end of the day, is it good practice because it is efficient.  Boards and courts like it because it is efficient.  And it is fair to the witness.  Don't forget we've got to be fair to the witness.  Mr. Selznick will acknowledge that he has to be fair to the witness. 


So, you know, if they have to listen to a 10-minute tape conversation and then answer questions about two lines, they're going to be asking to hear it over again.  And if they have the extract of what is being focussed on, it is fairer to them.  


An Issues Conference, as I say, our view is that the issues are defined by the notice of hearing.  We may -- the essential thing is to have a hearing date.  When you've got 31 witnesses, perhaps the Board appreciates, if we have the hearing starting today, two or three of those 30 are not going to be available.  If we have it starting August 30th, another two or three of them, a different two or three, are not going to be available.  But we have to have a hearing date.  


We don't have to prove all 28 cases for this Board to have jurisdiction, and indeed solid basis to make the orders that we are seeking.  


We have to have sufficient, credible complaints, and so we may decide at some point that we have had 15 of them.  They have all gone well.  Let's shorten the hearing.  Let's get to remedy.  


But our job, our onus, our responsibility is to lead that evidence in the most effective possible way so that you can deal with the issues raised before you.  Does it help to have an Issues Conference to try to sort out, is this person credible, is that person well documented?  No.  


This person may be very credible at a hearing, even if their case is not well documented.  They may be a compelling witness and you may believe them.  But that is for a hearing.  That is what hearings are for, is to assess the credibility, and there is just no unfairness to Summitt. 


I heard my friend say:  Well, I have to stage my defence in a reactive kind of way, and -- there is no unfairness.  This is the way every criminal prosecution in the country proceeds.  A hearing date is set, disclosure is made, and the witnesses are called.  That is nothing unfair about that.  


So ADR, I think you have our position.  This Board must finally decide.  Normally in these cases, if there is to be a facilitated mediation or a resolution with a consent order short of a hearing, normally that is what -- Section 112.2 encourages those discussions to happen before a hearing is set.  


Now, Mr. Selznick I think fairly acknowledges he doesn't want to get into the details and neither do compliance counsel, but those discussions did occur.  They were not successful.  A hearing was requested.


So to some degree, you are being asked to roll back the clock.  And again, the important theme of my submissions is that this is a summary process.  It is forward-looking.  It is compliance-oriented.  And we want to get to a hearing such that you can determine what are the missing steps and procedures that Summitt needs to put in place to, frankly, stop these complaints.  


I have made the concluding point already that I wanted to make, in terms of my overall submissions on the motion.  Timing is critical.  These things don't need to be scheduled when there are cooperative counsel, and we have been cooperative.  I think if you review the correspondence fairly, although we have made it very clear to Mr. Selznick that we won't consent to anything that involves a delay of the hearing -- for the reasons that I hope I have outlined to you -- we have invited him to tell us if there is disclosure missing.  We have offered to accommodate him.  We are not opposing various aspects of the relief he is seeking, and so on.


So the required cooperation is there, in our submission.


I want to deal very briefly with the situation that arises if you decide to adjourn the hearing.  You will have noted in our factum we have asked for some conditions.  I am not sure -- I think Mr. Selznick is almost offering to produce part of what we have asked for, which obviously would be to get the transcripts of the portions of the audio tapes and telephone calls.  


Certainly it is appropriate.  Even if Mr. Selznick does not consent, this Board has jurisdiction to order a regulated licensee, such as Summitt, to produce this material.  I would draw your attention, in the THESL case, paragraph 20, this Board has cited the Westcoast Energy case.  I am sure Board members are very familiar with it.  


But it is normal for this Board to require licensees to produce information, and indeed this Board has already exercised it in this case; procedural order No. 1 in connection with the interim compliance order required certain production.  And I have taken you to that.  


So let me deal, briefly, with intervention.  You will know our letter taking the position that we can't support the request for intervention in this case is in the supplementary affidavit, Exhibit C.


The essential point is the nature of the proceeding.  It is a compliance hearing.  It is a list between the two parties.  I can tell you, as a matter of practice, interventions are almost never allowed in true criminal cases, because of the potential prejudice to the accused.


There are very limited exceptions, for example, where a constitutional issue is raised that has broader implications beyond the particular prosecution, and then the courts tend to limit the intervention to that particular issue, whether it be a motion or -- they certainly don't allow cross-examination of the witnesses who are giving evidence as to the merits of the prosecution.


So we are very reluctant to see the Board adopt a broad practice of allowing broad intervention in these kinds of cases.  In our submission, to the Board it is generally not appropriate.


I note in the University of Western Ontario reply letter, which is Exhibit D, there is a suggestion that this case is a kind of policy review, because it is one of the first in which the Board has sought compliance remedies and the first involving the particular issue of salesperson conduct in the context of gas and electricity marketing.


That is true in a sense that it is the first case, but it is not true in the sense that this is a policy review.  This is a compliance proceeding.  The issues are whether the law, as currently written, is being complied with or not, and, if not, why not, and what is Summitt going to do about it?


So it is not a policy review in that sense of, you know, the law.  The policy of this Board is not up for grabs.  The codes are there.  The regulations are there.  The act is there.  So in that sense, legislative policy is set, in my submission.


I do note, as well, the University of Western Ontario intervention is somewhat reduced in scope in the new letter, that they are only interested in penalty and sanction.


I can tell you that doesn't change my position.  It is very unusual for anyone to be allowed to intervene on penalty.  That is essentially the issue of how the accused is going to be penalized by the court.  It is no different here.


This Board is the expert and will be the judge and should be the judge on what penalty is appropriate.  The parties should make those submissions.  Compliance counsel, on the one hand, will urge the public interests that are at stake.  Summitt will urge its conduct and the factors that it wants to bring to bear in that process.


So I appreciate the reduction in scope.  I am afraid I still cannot support the request for intervention.


On the RR and R disclosure request from Mr. Summitt, let me be very clear we are not opposing disclosure of that information.


And the reason I emphasize we are not opposing disclosure is, of course, disclosure is always broader than the issue of admissibility.  By not opposing disclosure, we have placed a caveat that we are not conceding that this is admissible in evidence or any particular use of the information is proper.


So I think it goes to a point Mr. Sommerville that you raised in your discussion with Mr. Selznick.  I don't think you need to rule today on whether the expert evidence that we have not yet seen is proper or not.  That's for the hearing, and Mr. Selznick may get this data by way of disclosure, give it to his expert, and the expert may say, There is nothing here.  So you don't need to rule on admissibility today.


In my respectful submission, the request, in terms of the Board's standard of disclosure, is:  Does it relate to the proceeding in some way?  The answer is, I think, yes, and I submit -- I should say, as well, Board Staff have identified concerns about the reliability of this information, because it is, in part, self-reported by the registrants, so that its comparability from one company to another, and so on, may well be in doubt if we get into the issue. 


But, again, that is an issue for the hearing.  That is for the weight that goes to it.  In terms of disclosure, in our respectful submission, we are not opposing because it is relevant and it is a proper request, unless the Board sees a concern that I haven't identified.


So on that issue and any other issues, if you have questions, I am happy to answer them, but those are my submissions.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Tunley.


A question to Board Staff respecting the availability of the information that has been requested by Mr. Selznick on behalf of his client.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Yes.  This is with respect to the RRR data?


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Yes.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  I believe Board Staff had some questions as to which sections of the RRR filing are being requested.  As I understand, there's a variety of data that is collected, and presumably not all of it is being sought or relevant to Mr. Selznick's expert.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  This material is being asked for on an aggregated basis; right?


MR. SELZNICK:  That's correct.  We are not looking for it by any particular filer, just the total numbers in the categories in our letter.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So if the Board was to make an order requiring the Board to provide that information, would Board Staff be in a position to sort of work with Mr. Selznick or his expert to develop that specific information?


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Yes.  I understand that Board Staff is prepared to do that, and that is not a problem.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That would be a process, Mr. Tunley, that you could certainly be fully informed about.


MR. TUNLEY:  We would certainly like to know the outcome and what information is ultimately provided so that we have the same information as Mr. Selznick, but we would not participate separately in that.  It is entirely a matter for Board Staff.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That is helpful.  Thank you.


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  Thank you.


MR. TUNLEY:  Sorry, if I may just -- it was brought to my attention, and I should be scrupulous about it, that in terms of the proceedings against Summitt, we are, in this case, seeking a finding of unfair practice under section 88.4(3).


Let me just read it so that you don't need to turn it up.  It is in the Ontario Energy Board Act:

"A retailer of electricity shall be deemed to be engaging in unfair practice if: (c) a salesperson acting on behalf of the retailer of electricity does or fails to do anything that would be an unfair practice if done or failed to be done by the retailer."


So, in that sense and under that specific provision, there is a sense in which the salesperson's conducted under the legislation is attributed to Summitt.  That is part of the proceeding before you, and I may have just -- my comments may not have fully taken that into account, so I draw it to your attention.  I don't think it changes anything.  I just wanted to be completely accurate.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Tunley.  Mr. Hirani, your remarks are limited to the question of your intervention.

Submissions by Mr. Hirani:


MR. HIRANI:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.


So I think that the -- our intervention request is set out in the letter of July 20th and the letter of August 12th.  I am just going to briefly give some supplement.


With respect to whether this is a policy review, I understand that it is prosecutorial in nature and that is why we -- after contemplation, we backed off of our initial position.  We have no intention of cross-examining or examining witnesses or adducing evidence.


Basically, because this is one of the first issues of litigation with respect to door-to-door sales, our position is that the exercise of discretion by the Board in the end, if the findings are found to be in fact, is an issue of policy.  So it is not so much the legislative policy as much as it is the Board's policy with respect to what kind of sanctions are going to be imposed if the legislation is contravened.  And that is what we will be limiting our submissions to.


And I think I think that our involvement with Summitt Energy and with the other energy rebuilders is outlined in our materials, and although Mr. Selznick suggested that we might be trying to introduce anecdotal evidence with respect to our involvement with Summitt Energy, we are not going to be trying to introduce that.


That does inform our position with respect to us being on the ground attempting to fight this fight with respect to individual cases with Summitt Energy.  And, as a result, we depend on the Board to try to solve this problem on a more over-arching basis.


And that is why I think that we will be able to give a fresh perspective with respect to the responsibilities that we would like the Board to undertake when considering issues like this with respect to unfair practices.


And it is that that we want to -- it is those submissions that we want to make at the end of the hearing and at the end of the proceedings with respect to that.  And all we are really asking for is 15 to 20 minutes, just to make those submissions on what we think the role of the Board should be with respect to the legislative scheme under which the -- under which the energy market functions.


So I think that about sums it up, subject to any questions that you might have.


 Just with respect to the -- with respect to the assertion that criminal law cases generally don't have intervenors, I agree.  And I think this would be categorized as a case that has broader implications, because the penalty that would be given, if there was a penalty to be given, would have to have an effect of deterrence on other re-billers and on Summitt individually to try to regulate the market more, and that is what we are looking at.  We are looking at what the result of this would be if the findings are found in fact, and what policy would be set with respect to the sanction that would be imposed.


So subject to any questions you might have, those are my submissions.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you, Mr. Hirani.  Not that this really has anything at all to do with your application for intervenor status, but you are aware that there is significant legislative amendment before the legislature?


MR. HIRANI:  Yes, we are aware of that.  We actually made submissions, written submissions to the Legislature with respect to the ECPA, and our perspective is the ambit of the Ontario Energy Board will be expanded as a result of the -- as a result of that legislation.  So we again think it is important -- that is another reason we think this hearing is important, because we think it might set the stage with respect to the further discretion that will be given under the ECPA to this Board.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.  Are those your submissions?


 MR. HIRANI:  Those are my submissions.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  We will break for approximately 20 minutes.  We will reconvene at quarter to 12:00.


Mr. Selznick, we will hear your reply at that point.


We hope to be in a position to give the parties some guidance about when a decision on this motion may be available.  It is our hope to be able to provide one in fairly short order, but we will need to consult, obviously, and we will inform you accordingly.


Well, with that, we will break until quarter to 12:00.  Thank you.


--- Recess taken at 11:25 a.m.


--- Upon resuming at 11:48 a.m.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Please be seated.  Thank you.  Did I do that?


MS. HARE:  No, I did it.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Selznick, you have the right of reply.


MR. SELZNICK:  Thank you.  I am sensitive to the time, and I will limit my comments to just comments in reply, rather than restating what I have said before.  So I do hope to be finished in about 15 minutes.

Further Submissions by Mr. Selznick:


MR. SELZNICK:  In reply to Mr. Tunley's comments -- I have no reply to the intervention.  I think my comments originally on intervention stand.  I don't think it adds anything to this process, and it is not -- at the remedy stage of this proceeding, the remedy stage of this proceeding should not be a matter of policy.  It should be a matter of looking at what the remedies are for these specific cases involved and not dealt with on an industry basis.


I think the intervenor's position is much better stated in the stakeholder proceedings on the legislation that is currently under review.


Turning to Mr. Tunley's comments, I would -- I will address them in the order of the process that he presented.


Firstly, I am concerned, and more concerned the more I hear the more I hear this, about what the scope of this particular process is.  I had mentioned this earlier, and I will restate it now, because it is fundamental to an understanding of the answer in defence that Summitt Energy last to place here.


I would refer you to two matters.  Firstly, the notice of intention itself suggests, as Mr. Tunley mentioned at the end of his proceedings, that Summitt Energy is liable of vicariously, under section 88 and under the retailers Code of Conduct, for the activities of these 28 -- sorry, of these five sales representatives and these 28 cases.


It has always been our position that that is what this case is about.  It is not about what's happening in the industry on retail resellers.  It is not about Summitt's general business practices.


I had discussions earlier with compliance counsel about that, and if I can return you -- I even reminded Mr. Tunley of this.  If I can refer you to the supplemental affidavit -- or original affidavit of Daniel Lester, it is with the notice of motion, the August 4th affidavit, and refer you to Exhibit G.  It is my e-mail of July 23rd, 2010 to Mr. Tunley.


In the third paragraph from the bottom, and I will just read it to reinforce this, I was responding to Mr. Tunley's comments that he wouldn't support or reply back on the timetable, per se, and we were free to bring our motion if we chose.


I mentioned here that:

"I also want to mention, as I have advised Maureen..."


And that is Ms. Helt:

"...on previous occasions, that I am concerned with the political overtones that have been raised earlier and again in your E Mail, and the institutional bias they may demonstrate.  The June 17th, 2010 notice of intention to make an order is limited to 28 specific alleged incidents committed by a total of 5 separate alleged agents.  There is no stated allegation in the June 17th, 2010 Notice of Intention to Make an Order that Summitt Energy directed the activity alleged, promoted or engaged in a course of conduct resulting in this alleged activity, or that Summitt Energy ought reasonably to have known that this alleged conduct was being engaged in and thereby tacitly approved and condoned the same."


The scope of this hearing, every time I speak to compliance counsel, seems to expand, and if not at an issues conference or technical conference, at some point needs to be determined, because our evidence in reply has to be tailored to what the claim is


We will defend against 28 complaints.  If the issue is that Summitt should change its general business procedures, that is a completely different assessment.


We are prepared to put in due diligence defence on these 28 cases if the burden of proof is shown, and much of that due diligence comes from the OEB's own records and their compliance files in the dealing with these 28 cases, but it is a significant issue for us, and I would urge the Board to read the notice of intention the way it has been drafted and not perhaps the way that is it being read today by compliance counsel.


Secondly, on the issue of disclosure and the request for information, when Mr. Tunley refers to the cascading of importance of cases, I agree with his interpretation of those cases, and the fact that this is at the -- in our view, at the more severe side of the disciplinary cases is the reason why we chose the cases that we did cite in our materials.


This case does involve the suspension, the potential suspension, of Summitt Energy's licence, and that is a fundamental aspect of its ability to carry on business.


I have heard now twice in this particular motion that the suspension sought is of door-to-door selling, while their process and procedures are being examined, but the notice of intention is quite clear in the second paragraph that it is a notice of intention to make an order for compliance, suspension and an administrative penalty.  It is not a suspension solely of door-to-door sales while the process and the procedures of Summitt are being examined and being rectified, if necessary.


Similarly, at the very end of the notice of intention, in the last paragraph or second last paragraph on page 17, there is an admonishment, well known, that the Board is not bound by the above noted penalty and has the discretion upon finding a contravention to make any order it deems appropriate under those quoted sections.


This is a serious matter for Summitt Energy and has significant ramifications for its ability to carry on business and its character in the community in which it operates.  So we do feel it is a serious offence and to distinguish the Toronto Hydro case, as my friend does mention, they were not seeking any kind of suspension in that case.  It was purely an administrative penalty.


I will come back to that Toronto Hydro case now, if I might, just to make a note of the fact that in that case, where there was not, in my mind, as severe a penalty sought, although my friend talks about the case being much more complex, I can't think of anything more complex than 28 separate cases.


There, I think there were two or three condominium corporations involved.  There are 28 complainants here and 28 separate sets of facts and five agents.


If I look at the procedural history of the Toronto Hydro case that my friend relies upon in his materials, there was the equivalent of a timetable in that case, because the Board set various thresholds for filing evidence for interventions, for timing of motions on materials, for delivery of transcripts, no difference really than what we are proposing here, but in a much more ad hoc process.


In a case where -- I suspect probably just as complex as this case, that timetable, not the one I am proposing -- that timetable ran from August 2009 to January -- sorry, to March 2010, where our timetable is talking about periods of weeks rather than months involved.


So I don't really think that we are off the mark, even on the cases that my friend cites, in looking for some procedural regularity here to know the case we have to meet at the end of the day.


Simple issues, as we just discussed before, of providing transcripts or even having the materials requested from the Board reviewed by our expert in his report prepared, and then provided to my friend for comment, probably would take ten days to a week right in that process right there.  It would be good to know what the schedule is for that.


We will -- I will reserve my comments on the post notice complaints that have been proffered as part of the disclosure materials to probably the hearing or the separate motion, if that can't be resolved between counsel.  I won't address it now.


But the prehearing examination, just to make a couple of points, is firstly the Statutory Powers Procedure Act does not say there shall not be prehearing examinations.  It simply says that the parties should have the right to examine at a hearing.  It doesn't foreclose a prehearing process.


In fact, the rules of procedure, civil rules of procedure in Ontario, in rule 31, do provide for the right to examine a non-party with leave of court.


That rule is a fundamental rule upon which the case had been brought that my friend recited to seeking a right to examine prior to hearing those cases.


The circumstance here contemplates that the Board does have the authority to set its own procedure, and rule 2 of the Board's rules allow the Board to make -- if I can flip to the actual rule itself, allow the Board to make rules should:

"...be liberally construed in the public interest to secure the most just, expeditious, and efficient determination on the merits of every proceeding before the Board."


And in rule 2.02:

"Where procedures are not provided for in these Rules, the Board may do whatever is necessary and permitted by law to enable it to effectively and completely adjudicate on the matter before it."


In this circumstance, again, clearly getting down some of the credibility issues well before the hearing would give us a foundation to work with opposing counsel to try to come to agreement on some issues, would allow us to know if there is other evidence that has to be proffered at the hearing rather than asking for an adjournment.  It is not by any means more complex.  In fact, it would simplify matters.


In the family law case my friend quoted, I agree with that determination.  Between a husband and wife who know the credibility of each other, I can't imagine any better, not only being married but locked in a contentious divorce.  Here, we're dealing with Summitt Energy and complainants who it has no direct knowledge of, no direct relations of, no ability to cross-examine, to understand what the nature of their credibility would be as a presenting witness until they arrived at the case.  


As well, I am concerned in a credibility case with proffering questions to compliance counsel to review and discuss with witnesses whose testimony we do not have under oath, and who may show up in court better prepared -- not to suggest in any way that compliance counsel would suggest answers to people, but it is human nature for someone appearing on a credibility case to read what was said before, to listen to transcripts of what was said before, to read transcripts, and to rehabilitate their evidence that they would present at trial based upon what they had said before, seeing the holes in their evidence before.  


I would not want that in this circumstance, in an unregulated -- or an unregulated, not under-oath environment, only to find that the witness now appearing on the motion for the first time is in fact telling me something quite different than his witness statement or her witness statement, and had a pretty good excuse for why it was different at this stage.


So I think the examination serves a significant purpose.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So, Mr. Selznick, what actual authority does the Board have to actually require a witness to sit down and speak to you under oath?  


MR. SELZNICK:  Well, the Board can direct that the -- that compliance counsel present its witnesses, these named individuals, for examination under oath or otherwise.  The Board also has the ability to summons witnesses if they don't appear.  I wouldn't necessarily think you would have to go to the extent, in the first instance, of summoning the witness to appear, but you do have the authority to summons if they won't appear voluntarily. 


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Summons is one thing, but asking them to come in for you to interview them under oath, apart from the hearing itself, what is our authority to do that?  


MR. SELZNICK:  Your authority is that the rules of practice in Ontario allow you to –- allow --


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  We're not subject to the rules of practice.


MR. SELZNICK:  Well, no, but in your rules, paragraph 2, allow you, as I quoted, to -- if the rules are not provided for in these rules, the Board may do whatever is necessary and permitted by law to enable it to effectively and completely adjudicate on the matters before it.  So I don't think you should take any different position on this as a court might in this circumstance.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So we could order -- in your view, the Board could make a rule that would allow us to order anybody to do anything? 


MR. SELZNICK:  Within the realm of law, yes.  


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Okay.  


MR. SELZNICK:  Is there a follow-up question to that?  


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  No, no.  


MR. SELZNICK:  Now, as I said to my friend, we are in the process of preparing transcripts, and the audio recordings wouldn't be a problem of -- that we have in our possession and will be filed as part of our evidence.  


It would be good, knowing what the hearing date is, to work backwards.  I can tell you that in preparing our evidence so far and without going detailed into the credibility of these witnesses, there is at least an expert's report that, our understanding, will take a week to prepare from provision of the information we have requested.


In fairness to my friend, I think he should see it before the actual hearing date, and if he has questions about it he can raise them, including the admissibility of that evidence, if he chooses to do so.  


There is also the issue of transcripts of the OEB recordings.  We have been provided with some OEB telephone recordings, which relate to some of the intake calls on the complaints, that we have the audio recordings for, but the question is:  Are they going to be entered into evidence or not going to be entered into evidence?  We want to really know what being available and what will be proffered so that we can prove those cases.


We might need to bring the intake officers of the OEB in as witnesses to talk about their conversations in those calls.


So there is a need -- I am just sort of underscoring the need for some procedural guidance here beyond simply saying a hearing date will be two weeks from Monday, and be ready to shoot on that date.  


So with –- sorry.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  That's fine. 


MR. SELZNICK:  And then my last comment is on the -- I don't have anything further on intervention.  On the RRR, I have no problem -- just to underscore -- having our expert liaise with -- through our office to liaise with counsel to the Board, and keeping my friend in the loop by copying him, and his inputs on what that information might be that is being prepared.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  In which jurisdiction or which city is your expert?  


MR. SELZNICK:  In Toronto.  


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  In Toronto.  Thank you.  


MR. SELZNICK:  Yes.  And also on the -- just to go back to make sure this isn't seen as something that is an untoward burden on these individuals, we have offered -- and I will repeat that in examining these individuals, we are not necessarily requiring they show up in Toronto.  As long as they're not outside of the country, we have no problem in attending upon them where they are in Ontario.  


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  You would go to their homes?  


MR. SELZNICK:  We would go to their homes or to some other location.  If there was a reporter's office close by, that might be the more appropriate thing. 


Or I have in other proceedings -- I am not sure how my friend feels about this -- I have in other proceedings done those examinations over the telephone with a reporter in my office.  It really depends upon whether the witness feels comfortable without counsel present, but I would be quite content in those examinations to have my friend present by conference call or with me in the same office while those questions were asked.  


Those are my submissions.  


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thanks very much.  


Are there any other submissions arising before we adjourn?  Mr. Tunley?  

Procedural Matters:


MR. TUNLEY:  If I may -- not further submissions.  I think you've heard submissions, but I did just want to highlight a couple of points that will flow one way or another.


I am hoping that as part of your decision in this matter, you will either confirm the hearing date commencing August the 30th or you will tell us a new date.  I think I have explained the importance of knowing that date for our witnesses.


But one other thing, because some of the witnesses who have to deal with an employer and excuse themselves have asked for a summons.  Technically under the rules, we would be required to serve those summonses personally.  Since it is really to accommodate the witness and it is a technicality, if I may have a direction that we may serve the summonses on the witnesses by registered mail rather than personally, once we know a hearing date, then even if we don't have a lot of time before the hearing starts, we can send the summons by -- we will advise the witnesses, obviously, by telephone immediately as soon as we have your decision, but then we can get the summons to them by registered mail.  


So if I may, as part of your -- these are just technical issues that flow from your eventual decision.  


I think those are the key points that I really need you to have turned your mind to, and if there are any others, I will just reiterate to Mr. Selznick and to the Board, we stand ready to cooperate outside of a formal hearing order on some of the issues that have been raised. 


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Mr. Selznick, do you have any response to Mr. Tunley's request?  


MR. SELZNICK:  Request for the -- 


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Service by registered mail.


MR. SELZNICK:  That's fine.  We may also have a similar circumstance with some of the individuals who we are seeking to attend as witnesses.  So I have no problem serving them by registered mail. 


The only purpose is not to have that raised as an issue at the later date.  If the witness is not present pursuant to the summons, that it would be still be enforceable, even though it was served by registered mail.  I have no problem with that.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Does Board counsel have any observations?


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  We have no submissions.  


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I think the Board can make that direction outside of the ambit of our decision on this motion, and will -- does in fact order that service by way of registered mail of any summons to witnesses by either Summitt Energy Management Inc. or compliance staff will be considered to be appropriate service.  


Does that serve your purpose, Mr. Tunley?  


MR. TUNLEY:  Yes, it does.  Thank you.  


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  So we will rise and we will come back at 2:30.  


At that point, we will either have a decision on the motion, or we will advise you that we don't, and when we might.  


So I hate to bring you back for the possibility for only a two-minute proceeding to tell you that we don't have a decision, but I think generally speaking, efficiency argues for doing it that way, and so we will reconvene at 2:30.


Mr. Hirani, I know that you indicated that you would stay until the -- this is not your characterization, but mine -- to the bitter end, but you are perfectly free to stay or go, as you choose according to your convenience.  The Board will not take that adversely in any degree.  


MR. HIRANI:  If I was to leave, how would I be notified of the decision?  


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Board Staff will ensure that you are the first to know.


MR. HIRANI:  Okay.  Thank you.  


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  Until 2:30.  Thank you.


--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:09 p.m.


--- Upon resuming at 3:04 p.m.

DECISION:


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  Please be seated.

The Board has reached a decision and I will read that, or paraphrase it.

First, the Board has made a decision with respect to the application for intervenor status made by the University of Western Ontario Community Legal Services.  The Board denies the application for intervenor status.  It is the Board's view that a compliance proceeding such as this one is not an appropriate forum for the advancement of the policy objectives related to door-to-door sales in the energy retail market, and that is pretty much the substance of what Mr. Hirani indicated he wanted to address.  It was apparent from his submissions that that was their primary objective.  

They wanted to encourage the Board, particularly at the sentencing stage, to take a certain kind of approach to non-compliance in this sector.  That is really the task of compliance counsel to make those kinds of submissions with respect to sentencing.  Second, in compliance proceedings the Board considers it generally inappropriate for third parties to become engaged unless they bring a very specific factual contribution to the case that is relevant to the Board's fundamental findings with respect to non-compliance.  It was clear, from Mr. Hirani's submissions, that Community Legal Services had no such input for this case.

I would ask Board Staff to ensure that Mr. Hirani is advised as soon as possible with respect to that.

Second, the Board will make an order requiring Board Staff to accommodate, to the reasonable extent, the request of Summitt's expert with respect to the RRR material.  It means that Board Staff will work with the Summitt expert to provide the RRR material that is being sought.  This process shall be fully transparent to compliance staff and compliance counsel, and any materials provided to Summitt's expert shall also be provided to compliance staff and compliance counsel.

It should be noted that the Board has some concern respecting the actual admissibility and relevance of the expert's work as it has been described by Summitt counsel this morning, but that is a decision that can be made at another time.

The Board notes that -- I think it was your submission, Mr. Selznick, that it may take a week or so for the expert's report to be completed, and the Board notes that that report need not be completed at the first day of hearing, but could follow, if necessary.

Thirdly, the Board finds and directs both parties to provide transcripts of any audio material that they intend to produce in the proceeding.

Now to turn to the subject matter of the motion itself.  The motion by Summitt was really directed towards -- substantially towards enhanced disclosure.  It made a number of suggestions to the Board and was requesting a certain very specific kind of disclosure in this case, including the opportunity to interview, under oath, prospective witnesses.

It is the Board's view that compliance staff has -- and counsel has already provided a sufficient level of disclosure, which enables Summitt to know the case that it is expected to meet with sufficient detail to enable it to mount an effective defence to the allegations contained in the notice of intention to make an order.  

First, the notice of intention to make an order itself is a highly detailed description of the nature of the alleged non-compliance, the date of the alleged occurrences, the context in which they occurred and the individuals most directly involved, as typically the employees of Summitt and the complainants.

As early as June 24th, compliance counsel provided significant further detail respecting the allegations giving rise to the notice of intention to make an order.  There is simply no mystery as to the nature of the allegations being made are, or who, what, where when or how the alleged instances of non-compliance arose.

The Board does not consider enhanced disclosure to be necessary in these circumstances.

In his submissions on the motion, counsel for Summitt urged the Board to require that the complainants present themselves or otherwise make themselves available for cross-examination under oath prior to their appearance at the hearing itself.

This submission was predicated on the idea that the credibility of the witnesses in this case is a very key factor in the case.  It was his suggestion that only through this process involving a cross-examination under oath that Summitt could identify the anomalies in the testimony of these witnesses, and thereby prepare itself appropriately for the hearing itself.  The Board completely rejects that suggestion.

It is the Board's view that the testimony of the witnesses before it, in the hearing itself, is the best available means, time tested and true, to test the accuracy and credibility of the complainants' testimony.  Not only would the process argued for by Summitt be inordinately onerous and costly to all of the parties in this proceeding; in the Board's view, it would virtually guarantee a lack of candour during the course of the hearing itself.

Witnesses will surely have lost whatever spontaneity and candour they may have had if they are subjected to an awkward preceding cross-examination under oath.

It is the Board's practice and it is its intention in this case to permit Summitt every reasonable opportunity to test the evidence offered by compliance staff during the course of the hearing and to make whatever defence it chooses to make as within the norms of our law.

The voluminous disclosure made to date makes the detail and nature of the allegations against it extremely clear.  To engage in prolix and complex pre-hearing arrangements of the time urged upon us by Summitt would not assist the Board in exercising its mandate and could most likely even thwart the fact-finding process which takes place during the course of a proceeding in which parties are afforded full opportunity to cross-examine witnesses and to present their defence.

If any further proof were needed that Summitt has had more than adequate disclosure from compliance staff, it could be found in the most recent affidavit material filed by Summitt.  Those affidavits clearly demonstrate that Summitt has the names and telephone numbers of all the complainants.  In fact, Summitt has attempted to contact and interview those complainants, and, in all but a few cases, the complainants have not made themselves available for any such interview, nor should they be required to submit to such an interview.  Their obligation is to provide their evidence to the process under oath and to make themselves available for cross-examination within the norms of our law.

Summitt has also urged the Board to order a series of pre-hearing processes drawn from the Board's rules of procedure and all directed towards assisting Summitt to know the case that it has to meet.  As we have already indicated, the Board believes that Summitt is already in a position to know in sufficient detail the case that it will be expected to meet.

Summitt has urged that we insert into the timetable an opportunity for a technical conference.  The Board uses technical conferences to enable parties in extremely complicated rates proceedings, where thousands of pages of highly detailed economic and engineering information is presented -- in such cases, the technical conference can serve a very valuable purpose in increasing the understanding of the parties.

In this case, the fundamental question has been expressed by both counsel, clearly, and that is that: If the incidents of non-compliance, as they are alleged, did occur, did Summitt exercise due diligence in trying to prevent the incidents?

This is not, at the end of the day, a technical exercise.  It does not require accounting or engineering expertise or foreknowledge.  It is to be noted that the Toronto Hydro case referred to in submission was, in fact, a highly technical case that turned, in some part, on the details respecting the configuration of connection of bulk meters and suite meters, and that technical element, which was fundamentally an engineering exercise, was important in the consideration of that case.

Summitt has also urged that the Board order the exchange of written interrogatories.  The Board does not favour this suggestion.  The substance and detail of the allegations is clear from the materials already on the record or provided to Summitt.

Summitt suggests that interrogatories are especially important with respect to the evidence of the lead compliance staff investigator, Ms. Marijan.  Compliance counsel has already provided a detailed witness statement from this investigator, a copy of the briefing note used to outline the case against Summitt, and the investigator will be made available for cross-examination in the hearing.


In the Board's view, this is adequate.  


Similarly, there is no need for an issues conference.  In one sense, the issues are clear.  As I have indicated, if the incidents of alleged non-compliance can be shown to have occurred, did the company exercise due diligence in trying to avoid their occurrence?  An issues conference is in the Board's view unnecessary.


It is also important to note that in compliance matters, the Board considers that it has a special obligation to consider the -- what the issues are in the case, and in no case does the Board simply accept an issues conference or an issues list provided by the parties to be the last word with respect to issues.  That is something that the Board determines and orders in the context of its proceedings.


Summitt also urged the Board to convene, by order, a settlement conference.  The Board certainly encourages the parties to talk, with a view to resolution of any outstanding matters.  The Board's primary objective in compliance matters is remedial and not punitive.  The parties are free to talk between now and the date of the hearing, and the Board will consider any reasonable proposals that emerge.  


But the Board will not compel the parties to do so.  There will not be an order requiring a settlement conference.


The hearing will commence on August the 30th.  The Board has reserved five full hearing days.  We expect that the parties will cooperate fully with each other so that the proceeding will advance efficiently, fairly and effectively.  The Board is encouraged at the apparent willingness of both parties to be reasonably accommodating as we approach the hearing.


In that regard, it would be particularly useful, between now and next Monday, for the parties to work on a roster of witnesses for each of the first days of the proceeding.  We heard today the idea that it would take a witness an entire morning and then an entire afternoon.  That, in the Board's view and in the Board's experience, would be not an efficient process.  We would expect the witnesses to be proceeding much more quickly than that.  


We also expect that the witnesses have a reasonable expectation as to when they are going to be called, and that we should be trying to accommodate that reasonably.  So we've got five days for the hearing of the case.  


Let me say that that does not necessarily include submissions.  Submissions may be either done by way of writing or we could reconvene at some point to hear oral argument.


But the Board does expect the case to go next week and that -- is confident that with the reasonable accommodations of all parties, that it can -- the evidentiary portion can be concluded within that time frame.


Are there any questions?  Mr. Selznick?


MR. SELZNICK:  No questions.  


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  Mr. Tunley?  


MR. TUNLEY:  Mr. Sommerville, I have no questions, but I did want to say that even in the two -- hour and a half we've had, we've started to discuss a number of issues, which I think will help operationalize the Board's decision.  And if I could just review those briefly with the panel while we are together, I would like to do that.  


First of all, the compliance counsel team have met.  We expect to come up with a witness order and a suggestion, just as you have indicated, within the next day or two.  


And we will get that to Mr. Selznick.  


Secondly, we have proposed to Mr. Selznick and he has agreed that what will make sense in advance of the hearing –- and so, again, we will do this this week -- is to prepare a binder of the documents that relate to each complainant witness.  They will have common tabbing, so A will always be, let's say, the contract.  So that you will know for this witness the contract is at tab A, and we will come up with something that is very manageable.  I think we will be able to agree with Mr. Selznick, from my discussions with him in the break between the hearings today, that each tab, everything that you are going to need for a witness will have its place in that structure.  There may be the odd additional exhibit, but we will try to minimize that.


Then thirdly, if I may, first of all, we are quite happy to accept the expert's report as the hearing progresses.  The expert presumably will be a defence witness fairly late in the process.


 So we are pleased with that as an outcome.  We did not want to delay the start of the hearing.  


Counsel have also suggested, and maybe with your direction, we would like to proceed on the basis that initials or some identification, rather than names, be used for all the individual witnesses.  That is both the complainants and the five sales agents.  I think we can do that.


Sometimes they are identified by badge number and there are contract numbers, so that is a possibility, or we can just use initials.  I think my friend Mr. Selznick points out some of the individuals concerned have the same initials, which is not a great surprise.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  How about all three?  


MR. TUNLEY:  So exactly.  So what we would like to be able to do is use a system throughout the hearing, whether that requires a direction today or just your concurrence with the approach, and we will work it out, but I think it will avoid any of the issues of confidentiality or debates about that coming up as we proceed, and it makes sense to just agree to that today.  


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I am embarrassed, because I intended to address that specifically at the request of Ms. Hare, who made that very sensible suggestion.  


So, Mr. Selznick, do you have any issues with that?  


MR. SELZNICK:  I don't have any issues with the use of initials on all witnesses.  


But just as a matter of clarification, I know that during the argument part of the hearing today, we touched briefly on the scope of the hearing, and my friend's suggestion that he might be leading evidence of -- after the -- of complaints filed after the notice of intention.  


And that might be something we need to address at the commencement of the hearing.  I am not sure what my friend's order of evidence will be, but is it within your contemplation that that would be a first step at the hearing?


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  I am secretly hoping that the parties would be able to come to some resolution on that subject matter.  But if you can't, then I think we are bound to deal with it early on in the case, probably at the first -- probably at the opening, so that we don't run into difficulties in that respect.


So I want to reiterate, and this -- to some extent, you're counsel who don't appear before the Board with great regularity.  We usually deal with counsel who appear before us all the time.  


The Board is dependent and relies upon and expects and requires counsel to work very cooperatively together in these cases, to attempt to make things work as smoothly as possible.


Where there are difficulties, don't hesitate to raise them, and we will resolve them, and we will resolve them fairly and according to our practice on an ongoing basis.  


If you run into difficulties in accommodating and cooperating with each other, let us know through Ms. Djurdjevic, and we will -- we will try to deal with those and head them off at the pass as expeditiously and fairly as possible.


I also want to reiterate the importance that the Board has in the outcomes of these cases, which as a matter of principle, the Board's fundamental orientation is one of remediation.  The Board is interested in, if there are non-compliance situations, creating the conditions that eliminate them.  That is our primary orientation.  


So if that is of any guidance as you go into this week before the hearing, so be it.  


Is there anything further?  


MS. DJURDJEVIC:  I just wanted to confirm for parties that aren't familiar with the Board's hearing processes that hearings do commence at 9:30, and that is the time that we will be starting on the 30th.  


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  We typically will go -- I think everyone knows we typically get a transcript at the end of every day, which is typically a very good transcript.  


We typically start at 9:30, break at 11:00, usually break around 12:30 for lunch, typically for an hour.  If anyone has any special requirements at any given point in time, let us know and we can accommodate that.  


We will take an afternoon break, 15 minutes or 20 minutes or so, and typically look to wrap up around 4:30.  


But again, if anyone has any special requirements, please let us know through Ms. Djurdjevic, and we will try to accommodate those.


And to your point, Mr. Tunley, the Board does favour the idea of dealing with the witnesses and the complainants and the agents, of dealing with all of that by way of initials.  Whatever distinct identification that is not their names, that would work for us.  


Okay?


Thank you very much for your very able submissions.  I really appreciate them and the cordiality of the proceeding.  I appreciate that.  Thanks very much.  We will stand adjourned until next Monday.  Thank you.  


--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 3:25 p.m. 



















PAGE  

